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Listed on the ASX Average market 
capitalisation 
over FY2008

Number of 
security holders 

Total assets 

About DUET1

DUET Group Annual Report 2008

 Investment mix2  Geographic mix2  Energy mix2

  Dampier Bunbury 
  Natural Gas Pipeline 40.5%
  Duquesne Light3 25.0%
  United Energy 
  Distribution 21.3%
   Multinet Group  

Holdings 11.2%
  AlintaGas Networks 2.0%

  Western Australia 42.5%
  Pennsylvania, 
  United States 25.0%
  Victoria, Australia 32.5%

  Gas transmission 40.5%
  Electricity 
  distribution 40.8% 
  Electricity 
  transmission 5.5%
  Gas distribution 13.2%
 

 DUET Group (DUET) is an ASX-listed owner of energy utility assets 
in Australia and the United States. DUET is managed jointly by AMP 
Capital Investors Limited and Macquarie Capital Group Limited.

 DUET’s objective is to provide stable and predictable distributions 
for security holders and fund these distributions from operating 
cash flows.

01

1 As at 30 June 2008.

2 Based on DUET’s 
30 June 2008 
financial report, 
carrying values 
adjusted for DBP 
Stage 5 expansion, 
excluding SOLA debt.

3  Investment held via 
DUET’s 29% interest 
in Duquesne Light.

4  As per DUET Group 
FY2008 financial 
report.

August 2004 A$1.957 billion 15,554 A$7.6 billion4
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 July 2007  
DUET announced the successful 
completion of its A$350 million 
placement and entitlement 
offer to fund the acquisition 
of Duquesne Light and the 
DBNGP Stage 5A expansion.

 November 2007 
Duquesne Light reached a 
settlement on its transmission 
rate case, delivering an increase 
in transmission revenue of 
approximately A$36 million, 
representing a 118% increase 
over the previous calendar year. 

 December 2007 
A distribution of 13.5 cents 
per stapled security was 
announced for the six months 
to 31 December 2007. 

 March 2008 
The Essential Services 
Commission (ESC) released 
its Gas Access Arrangement 
Review (GAAR) – Final Decision 
for the period 1 January 2008 to 
31 December 2012. The Final 
Decision is a substantial 
improvement on the Draft.

FY2008 Highlights

 Distributions:

+9
.1%

 Proportionally  
consolidated EBITDA:

+1
4.4

%
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 April 2008 
DBP announced the substantial 
completion of the A$660 million 
DBNGP Stage 5A expansion. 

  DUET announced the DBNGP 
Stage 5B expansion to meet 
new firm capacity requests, 
subject to finance and DUET 
board approval. 

 May 2008 
DBP announced it had entered 
into a conditional lease agreement 
with Epic Energy for the Burrup 
Extension Pipeline as part of the 
DBNGP Stage 5B expansion 
program.

 June 2008 
DUET announced its intention 
to issue an instruction to 
POWERS Trust to redeem and 
cancel the POWERS securities. 
Additionally, DUET announced 
it would fund the redemption 
through a new DUET senior debt 
facility. The terms of this facility 
are more favourable than existing 
POWERS terms. 

 A distribution of 13.5 cents per 
stapled security was declared 
for the six months to 30 June 
2008, bringing the total distribution 
per stapled security to 27.0 cents 
for FY2008, a 9.1% increase over 
the prior year. 

 DUET announced distribution 
guidance for FY2009 of a 
minimum of 28.25 cents per 
stapled security.1

 Proportionally consolidated 
earnings per stapled security:

+2
6.0

%
1 Distribution 

guidance is subject 
to change from 
the impact of any 
material changes 
in DUET’s forecast 
assumptions.
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Chairman’s Letter

The 2008 financial year has seen solid 
performance across DUET’s five businesses. 
We have continued to invest in our assets and 
have undertaken capital management initiatives 
at the DUET level to ensure the fund remains well 
positioned for continued strong performance.

Over the last 12 months we have seen an 
unprecedented period of volatility in capital 
markets around the world including the ASX. 
The ‘credit crisis’ that hit global financial markets 
in mid 2007 continued throughout FY2008. 
DUET’s long dated asset debt maturities and 
hedged interest rate profile provide us with 
significant protection from these developments 
in the medium term. Additionally, the nature of 
our assets provides DUET with defensive, stable 
and predictable revenues and earnings which 
position us well in times of increased volatility.

As a result of meeting our financial, strategic 
and distribution targets, I am pleased to advise 
that DUET announced a distribution for the 
six months ended 30 June 2008 of 13.5 cents 
per stapled security, which was paid in 
August 2008. Including the interim distribution 
paid in February 2008, DUET’s distributions for 
FY2008 totalled 27.0 cents per stapled security, 
up 9.1% over the previous year.

I outline below some of the important steps 
taken during the year to position DUET for 
future growth.

Completion of entitlement offer
At the beginning of FY2008 we completed our 
placement and entitlement offer which raised 
A$350 million to partly fund DUET’s Duquesne 
Light investment and our equity commitment 
for the Dampier Bunbury Natural Gas Pipeline 
(DBNGP) Stage 5A expansion. The strong level 
of support we received from both institutional 
and retail security holders demonstrated 
continued confidence in DUET’s strategy and 
disciplined approach to making acquisitions.

Expansion of the DBNGP
Prior to the completion of the DBNGP Stage 4 
expansion in December 2006, Dampier Bunbury 
Pipeline (DBP) – the group of companies which 
own and operate the pipeline – announced that 
it would proceed with the Stage 5A expansion 
in response to continued demand for gas 
transportation. The A$660 million Stage 5A 
project was substantially completed in 
April 2008, effectively duplicating 50% of 
the DBNGP mainline. 

New firm capacity requests led to the 
announcement of a further expansion, Stage 5B, 
during the six months to 30 June 2008. Stage 5B 
is expected to cost approximately A$700 million 
and will involve a further 440km of pipeline 
looping which, when completed, will deliver 
further capacity requirements of 113TJ/day 
of firm full haul and 140TJ/day of part haul. 
Agreement has also been reached with Epic 
Energy to lease capacity in Epic Energy’s Burrup 
Extension Pipeline as part of the expansion.

The Stage 5B expansion will increase the 
additional capital invested in expanding the 
DBNGP by the owners to approximately 
A$1.8 billion. As with previous expansions, the 
project is forecast to generate equity returns 
and cash yields that will be accretive to DUET’s 
overall financial performance and to security 
holder distributions.

Redemption of hybrid funding instrument
During the six months to 30 June 2008 DUET 
announced its intention to issue an instruction 
to POWERS Trust to redeem and cancel the 
POWERS securities. Additionally DUET 
announced it would fund the redemption through 
a new DUET senior debt facility. The terms of 
this facility are more favourable than existing 
POWERS terms. The A$685 million corporate 
senior debt facility consists of a A$585 million 
facility, of which approximately 55% has a term 
of three years and 45% a term of five years, 
and a further A$100 million standby capex facility.

On behalf of my fellow directors I am pleased 
to present the DUET annual report for the 
financial year to 30 June 2008.
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DUET’s debt facility will provide important 
benefits to our security holders when 
compared to the POWERS terms, including 
lower costs and increased flexibility regarding 
future refinancing. 

Our focus remains on developing and growing 
a portfolio of regulated and contracted utilities 
with secure revenue characteristics. In 
assessing investment opportunities we look 
for energy utility assets which generate strong 
revenue streams that can deliver stable and 
predictable operating cash flows. Our portfolio 
is diversified across a number of energy 
sources and utility sectors, international 
markets and regulatory jurisdictions. This and 
hedging of the fund’s interest rate and foreign 
exchange exposures further secure the 
performance and distributions to DUET 
security holders.

In addition, our ongoing capital management 
efforts have ensured that DUET continues to 
have a strong balance sheet and debt position 
evidenced by stable gearing levels across the 
group for the year to 30 June 2008.

DUET remains committed to growing value for 
our security holders. We will continue to focus 
on managing and developing our portfolio of 
assets to create value and generate stable, 
predictable distributions to our security holders.

Thank you for your ongoing support.

Philip Garling
Chairman 

AMPCI Macquarie  
Infrastructure Management 
No.1 Limited

AMPCI Macquarie  
Infrastructure Management 
No.2 Limited 

DUET Investment 
Holdings Limited

 The 2008 financial year has seen solid 
performance across DUET’s five businesses. 
We have continued to invest in our assets and 
have undertaken capital management initiatives 
at the DUET level to ensure the fund remains well 
positioned for continued strong performance.

 DUET’s distributions for FY2008 totalled 
27.0 cents per stapled security, up 9.1% over 
the previous year.

 Our focus remains on developing and growing 
a portfolio of regulated and contracted utilities 
with secure revenue characteristics.
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The DUET portfolio and underlying assets 
have performed well over the 12-month period 
to 30 June 2008.

DUET and its businesses have achieved another 
year of strong performance. DUET’s proportional 
EBITDA on a like-for-like basis was up 14.4%, 
proportional earnings per stapled security (after 
taking into account tax, interest and maintenance 
capex but before corporate expenses) was up 
26.0%, and DUET parent revenue, effectively the 
distributions that the listed entity has received 
and uses to fund distributions to security holders, 
increased 63.2%. On a proportionate earnings 
basis DUET’s distributions to security holders 
are over 128% covered by operating cash flow. 

As a result of this continued strong 
performance, DUET has been able to deliver 
steady growth in distributions since listing in 
August 2004. Distributions in FY2008 of 
27.0 cents per stapled security (cpss) 
represented an increase of over 9% on the 
FY2007 distribution of 24.75 cpss. 

The DUET portfolio comprises investments in 
gas and electricity distribution and transmission 
assets in Victoria, Western Australia and 
Pennsylvania in the US.

We continue to work closely with our asset 
management teams to meet and exceed our 
earnings and cash flow targets and strategic 
objectives. DUET’s primary focus is to create 
value for security holders through growing the 
regulated asset base of each of our businesses 
by investing in their growth projects, such as the 
DBNGP expansions. These investments provide 
DUET with attractive returns on new capital 
invested. DUET will also continue to selectively 
invest in quality assets that are value accretive 
should an opportunity arise.

Dampier Bunbury Natural Gas Pipeline 
(DBNGP)
The DBNGP expansion program continued to 
be a major focus during FY2008 and has 
underpinned considerable increases in 
revenue and earnings. With the substantial 
completion of the Stage 5A expansion in 

CEO’s Report

April 2008, DBP has seen revenue and EBITDA 
growth of approximately 21.6% and 27.5% 
respectively in the 12 months to 30 June 2008.

Since DUET acquired its 60% interest in DBP 
in October 2004, two substantial capacity 
expansions have been completed. In December 
2006 the A$433 million Stage 4 expansion 
project was completed on time and on budget, 
and in April 2008 the A$660 million Stage 5A 
expansion project was substantially completed, 
also on time and on budget. DBP has since 
announced the Stage 5B expansion project, 
a A$700 million project. When completed, the 
pipeline will be approximately 80% duplicated 
over its entire length and approximately 94% 
duplicated between Dampier and Perth.

Duquesne Light
Duquesne Light has delivered on our acquisition 
targets. After receiving final approval for its 
transmission rate case in February 2008, 
Duquesne Light has seen revenue and EBITDA 
growth of approximately 24.0% and 33.0% 
respectively in the six months to 30 June 2008.

Duquesne Light is expected to present 
important growth opportunities for DUET 
through the transmission sector of its business. 
The US Federal Energy Regulatory Commission 
has provided attractive incentives for investment 
in transmission infrastructure through the 
regulated tariff structures. Projects are being 
developed to increase the capacity and 
reliability of Duquesne Light’s transmission 
network, and potentially provide new 
transmission capacity between states. 
Duquesne Light is strategically located between 
the generation-rich states of Ohio, Indiana and 
Kentucky and the high electricity usage states 
of New York and District of Columbia which 
provide significant opportunities for growth.
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United Energy Distribution (UED)
UED performed strongly this year as a result 
of continued increased demand for electricity, 
achieving revenue and EBITDA growth over 
FY2008 of 2.9% and 1.2% respectively. Strong 
performance over the last three years has 
enabled UED to pay two special distributions, 
totalling approximately A$16.5 million to DUET 
during FY2008. 

UED continues to progress the smart meter roll 
out in Victoria. This significant project involves 
installing over 700,000 meters, deploying a 
new communications network, installing new 
supporting IT systems and redesigning business 
processes to accommodate the new meters. 
UED aims to complete the installation over the 
next three to four years.

Multinet Group Holdings (Multinet)
Multinet has continued to perform in line 
with expectations.

In May 2008 Victoria’s Essential Services 
Commission (ESC) delivered its Further Final 
Decision for Multinet for the period 1 July 2008 
to 31 December 2012. Multinet has lodged 
an appeal in relation to variables used in 
determining the weighted average cost 
of capital and other elements of the decision.

This is the last decision for Multinet to be 
handed down by the ESC, with subsequent 
decisions falling under the jurisdiction of the 
national Australian Energy Regulator (AER). 
We anticipate that the formation of the AER, 
which will replace a number of state-based 
regulatory bodies, will lead to greater 
consistency and predictability in future 
regulatory decisions.

Multinet has been an active participant in the 
Victorian State Government’s natural gas 
extension program through two important 
expansion projects. The Yarra Ranges 
expansion project is now complete and the 
South Gippsland expansion project is expected 
to be completed in 2009.

AlintaGas Networks (AGN)
Continued population growth in and around 
Perth has underpinned the expansion of 
AGN’s gas distribution network. The Western 
Australian economy has grown faster than the 
national average and has been a major factor in 
the sustained growth of the Australian economy. 
Consequently, WA’s energy needs are also 
growing and AGN is supporting this growth. 
During FY2008 AGN’s connections increased 
by 3.3%. Over the same period AGN has seen 
revenue and EBITDA growth of approximately 
5% and 8% respectively.

Hedging
DUET’s financial strategy is to minimise volatility 
of distributions caused through interest rate 
and foreign exchange movements. DUET 
actively manages these movements by hedging 
both interest rates and foreign exchange rates 
at each of our asset companies.1 DUET’s 
majority-owned asset companies have 
interest rate hedging contracts in place for 
approximately 95% of their outstanding senior 
debt commitments.

Expected distributions to DUET from Duquesne 
Light are substantially hedged for the next 
three years.2

Recently Multinet hedged its senior debt 
interest payments for the period to the next 
regulatory reset (January 2013), and DBP 
secured debt funding and hedged interest  
costs for the Stage 5B expansion project. 
These hedging policies reduce the potential 
impact of interest rate rises affecting DUET’s 
profits and distributions. 

DUET recently executed a three-year  
US$300 million cross-currency interest rate 
swap transaction to hedge our corresponding 
investment in Duquesne Light. 

Outlook
The 2009 financial year will be an important 
period in the development of DUET’s portfolio, 
with the continued expansion of DBNGP and 
expected transmission projects at Duquesne 
Light. The DBNGP Stage 5B expansion is due 
to be commissioned progressively over 2009 
and 2010 with final commissioning scheduled 
to occur by the first quarter of 2010.

The strong outlook for the DUET portfolio is 
reflected in the FY2009 minimum distribution 
guidance of 28.25 cpss, a 4.6% increase 
over FY2008.

We will continue to selectively target 
opportunities to invest in energy utility assets 
which meet our investment criteria and add 
value for our security holders.

Peter Barry
Chief Executive Officer
DUET Group

1 Foreign exchange 
rates hedged for 
expected 
distributions to 
DUET from 
Duquesne Light.

2 From 30 June 2008.



DUET’s strategy is to invest in and manage 
energy utility assets with strong competitive 
positions that offer predictable cash flows 
and are value accretive. 

Investment Objectives and Strategy
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 DUET is uniquely placed to 
participate in future energy sector 
rationalisation and opportunities 
by virtue of its: 

 Access to the resources and 
networks of the AMP Group and 
the Macquarie Group, including 
access to capital, deal origination 
and structuring expertise

 Exclusive arrangements with 
AMP Capital Holdings (AMPCH) 
and the Macquarie Group to refer 
new investment opportunities in 
energy utility assets in Australia 
and New Zealand

 Partnership approach to owning, 
operating and investing in assets

 Flexible approach to working 
with different operators and 
asset owners. 

 Future opportunities for 
investment should:

 Have established historical 
or contracted volume levels

 Be located in OECD countries 

 Be governed by regulatory 
regimes or have long-term 
supply agreements

 Have strong competitive 
positions and sustainable 
cash flows 

 Offer potential for DUET 
to achieve a significant 
shareholding when co-investing, 
enabling DUET management 
to be actively involved in the 
business, influencing key 
operational and commercial 
decisions.

 These characteristics underpin 
the payment of stable and 
predictable distributions to 
security holders.
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Revenue (A$ million)

EBITDA (A$ million)

Next regulatory reset date

 

304

232

January 20112

The DBNGP is the only natural 
gas pipeline connecting the 
natural gas reserves of the 
Carnarvon and Browse basins 
on Western Australia’s North 
West Shelf with industrial, 
commercial and residential 
customers in Perth and the 
surrounding regions. The 
pipeline runs from the Burrup 
Peninsula, near Dampier, to 
Bunbury, near Perth, in the 
south-west of the state. 

6013

2253

n/a

Duquesne Light is an energy 
utility based in Pennsylvania, 
US. It provides essential 
electricity distribution and 
transmission services 
to approximately 587,000 
customers in a service territory 
of over 2,072km² in Pittsburgh 
and surrounding regions.

Duquesne Light has been a 
committed, Pittsburgh-based 
public service provider and 
community partner for over 
125 years, providing the region 
with a reliable, safe and 
efficient electricity service.

12

 Contribution to DUET 
proportionate EBITDA

  

25%

 Dampier Bunbury 
Natural Gas Pipeline 
64.9% interest1

 Duquesne 
Light   
29.0% interest

25%

1 As at 30 June 2008. 
DUET’s economic 
interest will reduce 
to 60.0% as the 
other investors pay 
up their partly-paid 
equity.

2 The reference tariffs 
do not presently 
apply to existing 
gas transportation 
contracts, however 
will switch to 
regulatory tariffs 
in 2016.

3 Six months to 
30 June 2008.



 

432

256

January 2011

UED’s electricity distribution 
network covers 1,450km² of 
south-east Melbourne and the 
Mornington Peninsula. 
The distribution network 
transports electricity from the 
high voltage transmission 
network to residential, 
commercial and industrial 
electricity users. UED’s 
distribution area is largely 
urban and, although 
geographically small (about 
1% of Victoria’s land), serves 
around one quarter of 
Victoria’s population. 

171

122

January 2013

Multinet is a Victorian gas 
distribution company with a 
network covering 1,940km² of 
the eastern and south-eastern 
suburbs of Melbourne. Multinet 
is currently expanding its 
geographic base through 
participation in the state 
government’s natural gas 
extension program. Multinet’s 
distribution network transports 
gas from the high pressure 
transmission network to 
residential, commercial 
and industrial gas users.

132

92

January 2010

AGN owns, operates and holds 
distribution licences for four 
gas distribution systems in 
Western Australia. These gas 
distribution networks supply 
natural gas to residential, 
commercial and industrial 
customers in metropolitan 
Perth, Geraldton, Bunbury, 
Busselton and Kalgoorlie-
Boulder, and liquefied 
petroleum gas (LPG) to Albany.

AGN’s customers represent 
the majority of Western 
Australian households and 
a range of commercial 
customers – all supplied gas 
through its four networks. 
AGN’s networks include 
12,310km of underground 
pipelines covering an area of 
approximately 1,352km².
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29% 17% 4%

 United Energy 
Distribution 
66.0% interest

 Multinet Group 
Holdings 
79.9% interest

 AlintaGas 
Networks 
25.9% interest



14

Asset description 
The DBNGP is a natural gas pipeline connecting 
the natural gas reserves of the Carnarvon and 
Browse basins on Western Australia’s North 
West Shelf with customers in Perth and the 
surrounding regions. 

The group of companies which owns and 
operates the DBNGP trades under the name of 
Dampier Bunbury Pipeline (DBP). In October 
2004 DUET and its consortium partners 
purchased DBP, and at 30 June 2008 DUET 
held a 64.9% economic interest in DBP.1 
DUET has a 60% voting interest in DBP.

Revenue streams 
Almost all of DBP’s revenue comes from gas 
transportation tariffs, charged to wholesale 
and retail customers for shipping gas along 
the pipeline. DBP has entered into standard 
long-term contracts with the major shippers 
using the pipeline – other than Alcoa – and, 
under these contracts, approximately 80% of 
the tariff is paid on a capacity reservation basis 
(take-or-pay), with the remaining 20% depending 
on the actual throughput of the pipeline. Alcoa, 
as the foundation shipper, has an evergreen 
contract with tariff agreements that differ from 
other shippers. 

Key investment attributes 
Predictable revenue 
DBP has long-term contracts in place until 
at least 2019 with all of the shippers using 
the pipeline, ensuring stable and 
predictable revenues. 

Competitive position 
The DBNGP is Western Australia’s principal gas 
transmission pipeline, and the only pipeline 
connecting the North West Shelf with industrial, 
commercial and residential customers in Perth 
and the surrounding regions. Natural gas 
supplies approximately 51% of total primary 
energy consumption in Western Australia. 

Development and growth potential 
Natural gas consumption in Western Australia 
has increased by 4% a year over the past 
10 years. The Stage 5A expansion has recently 
been substantially completed, further increasing 
pipeline capacity. The additional firm full haul 
capacity from the expansion has already 
been contracted to shippers under long-term 
contracts. Further, DBP will only invest in 
expansion projects on the basis of firm,  
long-term contractual commitments by 
shippers. Known gas reserves in Western 
Australia’s North West Shelf are estimated to 
be in the order of 136,000PJ, or approximately 
75% of Australia’s known gas reserves. 

Key events 
Stage 5A pipeline expansion project
Construction of the DBNGP Stage 5A 
expansion commenced in January 2007 
and substantial completion of the project 
was announced in April 2008. Full capacity is 
expected to be available in the fourth quarter of 
2008. This expansion involves the construction 
of approximately 570km of looping on the 
existing pipeline. Looping is the duplication of 
the pipeline in sections to provide incremental 
capacity. In addition, some existing compressor 
stations will be modified to manage the 
additional volume of gas. Stage 5A will add 
approximately 100TJ/day firm full haul capacity 
to the pipeline, all of which is supported by 
long-term gas transportation contracts. 

Stage 5B pipeline expansion project
In April 2008 the previously announced 
Stage 5A2 expansion was significantly increased 
in size and renamed the Stage 5B expansion 
project. The Stage 5B expansion project will 
deliver further capacity requirements of 
approximately 113TJ/day of firm full haul 
and 140TJ/day of part haul.

Contracts with shippers for the additional 
capacity to be delivered from 2010 have now 
been executed. Construction is anticipated 
to commence during 2009 and to be completed 
in the first half of 2010.

The anticipated capital cost of the project is 
approximately A$700 million. Stage 5B involves 
a further 440km of looping which, when 
completed, will result in the DBNGP system 
being more than 90% duplicated between 
Dampier and Perth.

 Dampier  
Bunbury  
Natural Gas 
Pipeline

1 DUET’s economic 
interest will reduce 
to 60.0% as the 
other investors pay 
up their partly-paid 
equity.
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Varanus Island incident
On 3 June 2008 a pipeline rupture and fire at 
Varanus Island halted gas processing at the 
Apache operated facility. The Varanus Island 
facility provided approximately 350TJ/day of 
Western Australia’s domestic gas. DBP has been 
working closely with industry and government to 
be part of the solution for the energy shortage 
arising out of the Varanus Island incident. 
Apache partially recommenced gas shipments 
from Varanus Island in August 2008 and is 
expected to be at full capacity by the end of 
CY2008. This incident has had no material 
impact on the financial performance of DBNGP.

Regulation
DBP has entered into long-term gas 
transportation contracts until at least 2019 
with all of the major gas shippers on the pipeline. 
However, it is still a requirement under the 
Western Australian gas regulatory regime that 
proposed access arrangement revisions are 
lodged with the Economic Regulatory Authority 
(ERA) for its approval approximately every 
five years. DBP’s revisions to the access 
arrangement were approved in December 2005, 
when the ERA released its final approval. 
The reference tariffs do not apply to the existing 
gas transportation contracts until 2016. 

Operational overview

 Year to 
30 June 2008

Year to 
30 June 2007

Throughput (PJs)
Full haul 225 223
Part haul 34 25
Back haul 36 36
Total throughput 295 284

2008 performance
In the year ended 30 June 2008 DBP reported revenues of 
A$304 million and EBITDA of A$232 million. Based on its paid-up 
equity interest for the period, DBP contributed A$70 million to the 
DUET parent.

Financial summary

A$ million
Year to 

30 June 2008
Year to 

30 June 2007
Distribution revenue 290 238
Total revenue 304 250
EBITDA 232 182
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Asset description 
Duquesne Light is an energy utility based in 
Pennsylvania, US. Duquesne Light comprises a 
core regulated electricity distribution and 
transmission business, along with several 
affiliated unregulated businesses. Duquesne 
Light has been servicing the energy needs of 
Pittsburgh and surrounding regions continuously 
for over 125 years and, as at 30 June 2008, 
has approximately 1,200 employees. 

In addition to providing distribution and 
transmission networks, Duquesne Light has 
a statutory obligation to supply electricity to 
Provider of Last Resort (PoLR) customers 
within its network area, which is regulated 
by the state-based Pennsylvania Public Utility 
Commission (PaPUC). In addition, DLC has an 
unregulated business selling power to large 
commercial and industrial customers. 

Revenue streams 
The Duquesne Light businesses provide stable 
regulated revenue with approximately 78% 
of calendar year 2007 EBITDA earned from 
regulated activities. These activities include the 
provision of transmission and distribution 
services for the transport of electricity, and the 
provision of energy to customers under its 
PoLR obligations. 

Key investment attributes 
Duquesne Light provides significant benefits to 
DUET through: 

Diversifying DUET’s geographic exposure  –
Diversifying DUET’s asset portfolio through an  –
additional distribution network and a 
transmission network 
Diversifying DUET’s exposure to regulatory  –
regimes, with Duquesne Light being regulated 
by PaPUC for distribution services and the 
Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) 
for transmission services 
Delivering long-term stable cash flows from  –
Duquesne Light’s regulated businesses.

 Duquesne  
Light1 

1 DUET’s 29% interest in Duquesne Light is held through DQE Holdings LLC. The co-investment arrangements include pre-emption and tag-along and 
drag-along rights in favour of each other equity owner, including rights which are triggered on a ‘change of control’. In regard to DIHL, a ‘change of control’ 
only occurs:

– If RE1 or RE2 is removed or replaced as responsible entity of DUET1 and DUET2 respectively, or

–  If the Macquarie Group and the AMP Capital Group (in aggregate, irrespective of each party’s individual interest) ceases to hold at least 40% of the shares 
in RE1 and RE2, or

–  If the person who obtains ‘control’ of RE1 or RE2 does not have appropriate expertise in infrastructure assets, appropriate financial means to manage 
DUET or is not of good standing and reputation.
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Operational overview

Year to 
30 June 2008

Year to 
30 June 2007

System sales (000MWhs)
Residential 4,167 4,150
Commercial and lighting 6,776 6,673
Industrial 3,088 3,130
Total sales 14,031 13,953

2008 performance
In the six months to 30 June 2008 Duquesne Light reported revenues 
of US$601 million and EBITDA of US$225 million. In the year ended 
30 June 2008 Duquesne Light contributed A$50.9 million to the DUET 
parent.

Financial summary

Financial summary
Six months to 
30 June 2008

Six months to 
30 June 2007

Total revenue 601 529
EBITDA 225 174

Key events
Transmission rate case
The settlement of Duquesne Light’s transmission 
rate case was announced on 7 November 2007. 
The settlement delivers a regulated return on 
equity (RoE), invested in the transmission 
network, of 11.4% (at the utility level) and 12.4% 
on projects that meet the regulator’s network 
capacity and reliability criteria. The settlement 
provides other important benefits, including 
recovery of capital on an annual basis which 
incorporates construction work in progress and 
abandoned projects. This and other recent 
regulatory decisions provide considerable 
certainty for Duquesne Light and for distributions 
to equity owners.

PJM Interconnection capacity charges
Duquesne Light has announced that it had 
sought and received approval from FERC to exit 
its current Regional Transmission Organisation 
(RTO), the PJM Interconnection (PJM), and to 
join the neighbouring Midwest Independent 
Transmission System Organisation (MISO). 
Duquesne Light is continuing discussions 
with PJM regarding the terms of exit.

Regulation
Duquesne Light is regulated by PaPUC for its 
electricity distribution business and for its PoLR 
obligations, and by FERC for its electricity 
transmission business. Unlike regulation in 
Australia, in Pennsylvania there is no requirement 
for review of regulatory decisions for electricity 
transmission and distribution on a periodic basis. 
Duquesne Light’s PoLR obligation is subject to a 
three-year regulatory review period, with the 
current period running to 31 December 2010.
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Asset description 
UED’s electricity distribution network covers 
1,450km² of south-east Melbourne and the 
Mornington Peninsula. The distribution network 
transports electricity from the high voltage 
transmission network to residential, commercial 
and industrial electricity users.

UED’s distribution area is largely urban and, 
although geographically small (about 1% of 
Victoria’s land), accounts for around 25% 
of Victoria’s population. 

Revenue streams 
Approximately 88% of UED’s total revenue 
comes from network tariffs, charged for use 
of UED’s distribution network and for the use 
of the transmission grid. The tariffs are charged 
to electricity retailers, who pass these costs 
on to their customers. Growth in network tariff 
revenue is driven by volume growth and 
regulated network tariff charges. Other revenue 
comes from services which UED provides to 
its customers, such as relocating assets at 
the request of our customers, extending existing 
distribution networks, providing public lighting 
to local council areas, and pole rental. 

Key investment attributes 
Regulated revenue 
UED’s distribution business produces 
predictable, regulated revenues. The price 
determinations which regulate the majority of 
these revenues apply for periods of five years. 
The next reset date for UED’s access 
arrangement is 1 January 2011.

Established commercial position 
UED is an established electricity distributor 
within its service area and receives revenues for 
each consumer connected to its distribution 
network, irrespective of which retailer sells the 
electricity to that customer. 

Diverse consumer base 
Energy consumption in UED’s distribution 
area is evenly spread across residential, 
commercial and industrial users making UED 
less vulnerable to variations in energy use in 
any one of these markets. 

Key events
Smart metering 
UED continues to progress the smart meter 
roll out as mandated by the Victorian State 
Government. The project involves replacing 
old style meters with new smart meters and 
significantly enhancing UED’s information 
systems to process the increased amount 
of data. 

These smart meters will enable UED to remotely 
read the meters, and allow electricity usage to be 
recorded in 30-minute blocks. Benefits include 
the introduction of innovative, more flexible tariff 
structures to reduce peak power consumption 
and costs, and potentially to provide customers 
with pricing information to enable them to 
respond to pricing signals and reduce their 
overall cost of electricity. Other benefits of smart 
meters can include rapid detection of outages, 
enhanced monitoring of quality of supply, 
detection of meter tampering, remote connection 
of electricity services, information on more 
suitable electricity pricing plans and a point in 
time display of greenhouse gas emissions. 

The smart meter project, the biggest project ever 
undertaken by UED, aims to roll out meters to all 
customers in UED’s distribution service area in 
the next three to four years. The project involves:

Replacing over 700,000 meters –
Deploying a new communications network –
Installing new supporting IT systems –
Redesigning UED’s business processes. –

 United 
Energy 
Distribution
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Operational overview

Year to 
30 June 2008

Year to 
30 June 2007

Network connections
Small (residential and unmetered) 562,374 557,724
Medium size business 55,270 54,261

Commercial and industrial 2,672 2,397
Total 620,316 614,382
Electricity load – GWh
Small tariff 3,011 3,008
Medium tariff 1,590 1,542
Large tariff 3,324 3,330
Total electricity load 7,925 7,880
Distribution network statistics
Overhead (km) 10,060 10,112
Underground (km) 2,345 2,289
Underground (%) 18.9 18.5
Maximum demand 1,893 1,735
SAIFI (number of interruptions) 1.1 1.0
MAIFI (number of interruptions) 1.1 1.0
SAIDI (minutes) 86 74

2008 performance 
In the year ended 30 June 2008 UED reported revenue of A$432 million 
and EBITDA of A$256 million. During the period, UED contributed 
A$86.5 million to the DUET parent.

Financial summary

A$ million
Year to  

30 June 2008
Year to  

30 June 2007
Distribution revenue 379 370
Total revenue 432 420
EBITDA 256 253

Bushfire mitigation 
Under Victorian law UED is required to prepare 
a bushfire mitigation plan each year, and carry 
out inspections of overhead electricity lines in 
bushfire areas and on private property. The plan 
must outline a maintenance regime to inspect 
and repair electricity infrastructure to minimise 
the risk of powerlines starting fires. Accordingly, 
each year UED’s management team identifies 
the bushfire mitigation measures required for 
UED’s network infrastructure sites. Each site 
is inspected regularly to determine the 
maintenance and mitigation activities to be 
undertaken when the bushfire season begins. 
The program aims to achieve a bushfire 
mitigation index of zero, the lowest rating, for 
the duration of the declared bushfire season. 

Operating services agreement 
The operating services agreement (OSA) with 
Alinta Asset Management provides for the 
operating services fee to be reset from 1 July 
2006. Renegotiation of the fee is continuing. 

Preparation for re-tender of the OSA at the end 
of the current regulatory period in December 
2010 is under way.

April storm damage 
In April Melbourne was subject to severe storms, 
with winds reaching speeds of over 100km/hr. 
As a result of the storms a significant number of 
customers across Melbourne, including those in 
UED’s service area, were affected. At the peak 
of the storm incident approximately 160,000 
connections were without power. UED and Alinta 
Asset Management requested assistance from 
jurisdictions outside Victoria to help restore 
power quickly. As such, most power was 
restored within one day after the storm hit. 
Financially, UED experienced a one-off cost for 
restoration of supply of approximately A$2 million 
which has affected the FY2008 results.
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Multinet 
Group 
Holdings

Asset description
Multinet is a Victorian gas distribution company 
with a network covering 1,940km² of the east 
and south-east suburbs of Melbourne. 

Revenue streams
Approximately 92% of Multinet’s total revenue 
comes from distribution tariffs, charged to 
customers for connection to, and use of, 
Multinet’s distribution system. Growth in 
distribution revenue is driven by regulated tariff 
charges and volume growth. 

Other revenue comes from the provision of 
regulated services such as meter reading, 
mains and services provision, and meter data 
management. 

Key investment attributes
Regulated revenue
Multinet’s distribution business provides 
predictable, regulated revenues. The access 
arrangements which regulate distribution 
tariffs apply for five years. The next reset 
date for Multinet’s access arrangement is 
1 January 2013.

Established commercial position
Multinet is an established gas distributor within 
its service area and receives revenues for each 
energy consumer connected to its distribution 
network, irrespective of which retailer sells the 
gas to that customer. 

Revenue base 
Multinet’s top 250 gas users collectively account 
for only around 1% of total distribution revenue. 
As a result, the potential for a negative impact on 
revenue from the loss of a major user is very low. 

Key events
Yarra Ranges extension project 
In November 2004 Multinet was selected by the 
Victorian State Government to deliver natural 
gas to nine townships in the Yarra Valley region. 
The project involved construction of new 
distribution networks, including 150km of supply 
and distribution mains. The project is now 
complete and supplying over 3,500 customers 
with natural gas. 

South Gippsland expansion project
In early August 2005 Multinet tendered for and 
won the South Gippsland gas expansion project. 
This project is also part of the Victorian State 
Government’s natural gas expansion program 
and will bring reticulated gas to five towns in the 
South Gippsland region. The project involves 
further expansion of Multinet’s network including 
construction of approximately 300km of 
transmission, supply and distribution mains, 
passing 11,300 homes and businesses. It is 
expected that gas supply to customers will 
commence in the first half of CY2009.

These projects are expected to promote 
significant economic activity within these two 
geographical regions. 
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Operational overview

Year to 
30 June 2008

Year to 
30 June 2007

Network connections
Tariff V residential 637,314 632,261
Tariff V business 16,651 16,714
Tariff D 264 272
Total 654,229 649,247
Usage – TJ
Tariff V 44,137 42,627
Tariff D 14,242 14,685
Total 58,379 57,312

2008 performance
In the year ended 30 June 2008 Multinet reported revenue of 
A$171 million and EBITDA of A$122 million. During the period 
Multinet contributed A$27.9 million to the DUET parent.

Financial summary

A$ million
Year to 

30 June 2008
Year to 

30 June 2007
Distribution revenue 158 148
Total revenue 171 167
EBITDA 122 123

Gas access arrangement review (GAAR) appeal
Following the release of the ESC’s Further Final 
Decision in May 2008, Multinet has lodged an 
appeal regarding the ESC decision in relation 
to variables used in determining the weighted 
average cost of capital (specifically Beta and 
Gamma) and the rate of change of network 
costs. This appeal is expected to be heard 
in September 2008 with a decision anticipated 
in October 2008.

OSA renegotiation
The operating services agreement with Alinta 
Asset Management provides for the operating 
services fee to be reset from 1 July 2008. 
Preparation for the fee renegotiation is 
currently under way.
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Asset description 
AGN owns, operates and holds distribution 
licences for four gas distribution systems in 
Western Australia. These networks supply 
natural gas to residential, commercial and 
industrial customers in metropolitan 
Perth, Geraldton, Bunbury, Busselton and 
Kalgoorlie-Boulder, and liquefied petroleum 
gas (LPG) to Albany. 

AGN is the largest distributor of natural gas in 
Western Australia and services approximately 
600,000 customers including households 
and a range of commercial customers. 
The customers are all supplied gas through 
its four gas distribution networks. AGN’s 
networks include approximately 12,600km 
of underground pipelines covering an area 
of approximately 1,352km².

Revenue streams 
Most of AGN’s revenue is derived from the 
largest of its networks – the mid-west and 
south-west gas distribution system (GDS) 
covering greater metropolitan Perth. 
Approximately 95% of AGN’s total revenue 
comes from distribution tariffs, charged to 
customers for connection to, and use of, 
AGN’s distribution system. Growth in distribution 
revenue is driven by regulated tariff charges, 
changing customer demand and volume growth 
from new connections. Network tariffs are set, 
within a regulatory framework, by the Economic 
Regulatory Authority (ERA). 

Key investment attributes 
Predictable revenue 
AGN’s distribution business provides 
predictable, regulated revenues. The current 
access arrangements were finalised in 
August 2005 and regulate distribution tariffs 
for the mid-west and south-west GDS until 
31 December 2009. The other networks, 
Kalgoorlie (natural gas) and Albany (LPG) are 
unregulated and contribute 5% of AGN’s total 
revenue. The next reset date for this access 
agreement is 1 January 2010. The distribution 
licences for AGN’s GDS are in force until 2021. 

Competitive position 
AGN is the largest gas distributor in Western 
Australia, with new connection growth averaging 
around 5% per annum over the last 10 years. 

Diverse consumer base
Gas consumption in AGN’s distribution area 
is predominantly for large industrial and 
residential purposes. Together, these two 
user groups account for more than 80% of 
total network throughput. 

Favourable economic conditions 
AGN’s strong Western Australian industrial 
connection base provides exposure to one 
of Australia’s strongest regional economies. 
AGN continues to see significant residential 
customer growth as a result of the strong 
economic growth. AGN is also well positioned 
to take advantage of the broader flowthrough 
benefits from the current resources boom. 

AlintaGas 
Networks
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Operational overview

Year to 
30 June 2008

Year to 
30 June 2007

Network connections 593,771 574,763
Usage – TJ 29,580 30,675
Priority emergency response 100% 100%

2008 performance
DUET owns 25.9% of Alinta Network Holdings Pty Limited (which 
owns 100% of AGN) and equity accounts this stake. In the year 
ended 30 June 2008 AGN contributed A$13.3 to the DUET parent. 

Financial summary

A$ million
Year to  

30 June 2008
Year to  

30 June 2007
Revenue 132 126
EBITDA 92 85

Key events 
Access arrangement 
The current access arrangement covers the 
period until 31 December 2009. Preparations 
for submissions to the next regulatory reset 
on 1 January 2010 have commenced.



DUET’s key focus is on managing its ESR 
risks and promoting a safety-conscious culture 
in each of its businesses.

Environmental and Social 
Responsibility Management

DUET
DUET believes that many social, environmental 
and economic benefits arise from responsible 
private-sector development and operation of 
high-quality infrastructure. DUET is also aware 
that with these benefits lies the potential for 
risk, including environmental and social 
responsibility (ESR) risk. 

DUET’s approach to ESR management is set out 
in its board policy. This policy forms part of 
DUET’s overarching risk management framework 
in accordance with principle 7 of its corporate 
governance statement.

In general, it is DUET’s policy to ensure 
compliance within the regulatory framework and 
the minimum standards under which an asset 

operates. DUET’s environmental and social 
responsibilities are managed throughout the 
investment process as follows:

Asset selection –  – environmental and social 
responsibilities are reviewed as part of the 
acquisition due diligence process
Ongoing asset management –  – regular asset 
board reporting enables compliance with 
environmental requirements to be monitored, 
and environmental and social responsibility 
issues to be identified
Stakeholder reporting –  – policies, social and 
environmental initiatives and compliance 
performance are reported internally and, 
where appropriate, externally.

24
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ESR-related regulatory requirements
DUET is not aware of any material breaches of 
relevant environmental or social responsibility 
related regulatory standards by its assets during 
the year ended 30 June 2008. 

ESR-related initiatives at DUET assets during 
FY2008

Environment management system
All of DUET’s Australian asset company 
operations are managed under an environmental 
management system externally certified to the 
International Standard ISO 14001 through 
contracted arrangements with Alinta. 

Electronic reporting brings environmental 
benefits
During FY2008 a change in the legislation 
covering reporting requirements removed 
DUET’s obligation to send hard copies of our 
annual and interim reports to security holders 
unless specifically requested. 

A large number of DUET security holders chose 
to receive only electronic copies. In conjunction 
with Planet Ark, DUET has assessed the 
reduction in the manufacture, shipment and 
printing of the reports as saving, in one year, 
more than four tonnes of paper or 14 tonnes 
of wood, 104,784 litres of water, 701kg of waste 
to landfill and 7,823kg of greenhouse gas (GHG) 
emissions.

Readiness for National Greenhouse Emissions 
Reporting
The Federal government has introduced the 
National Greenhouse and Energy Reporting 
System (NGERS), a mandatory corporate 
reporting system for greenhouse gas emissions, 
energy consumption and production. All of 
DUET’s Australian assets are implementing 
measurement and reporting systems to be 
compliant with the NGERS requirements.

DBNGP
Vehicle safety and speed monitoring system 
The majority of the 1,600km DBNGP runs 
through remote Western Australian locations 
with hostile climates.

The combination of speeding, unsealed roads 
and poor driving conditions across vast 
distances led to a number of vehicle incidents, 
including one fatality in 2006. Despite attempts 
to improve driver behaviour through training 
and awareness campaigns, vehicle incidents 
continued to occur, with inappropriate speed 
almost always being found to be a main 
contributing factor.

Monitoring travel along the pipeline relied on 
drivers using a satellite phone to contact a 
central control room at agreed times in transit. 
However, phones were often unreliable and 
drivers would occasionally forget to call. A 
‘no call’ would trigger the emergency response, 
resulting in many false alarms. Furthermore, 
in the event of an emergency, a vehicle could 
be anywhere within more than 200km of roads 
and tracks, making rescue operations time 
consuming and risky.

A Vehicle Safety and Speed Monitoring System 
(VSSMS) was developed by DBP and its asset 
manager, Alinta Asset Management Pty Ltd, 
using a Global Positioning System (GPS) to 
continually track the location of all vehicles 
working on the pipeline. The data is transmitted 
to a central control room at 30-minute intervals, 
where the location, date, time and speed data 
can be viewed in table format and graphically 
superimposed on Google Earth Pro. Personnel 
working on DBNGP activities over the entire state 
of Western Australia are now monitored 24 hours 
of every day. The system monitors all access 
roads and tracks that connect the work sites with 
the public road network. 

The graphical representation of the vehicles 
changes colour depending on their status. 
Vehicles are red in an emergency, amber if 
travelling above the speed limit and green if 
travelling within speed limits with no signs of an 
emergency. For emergencies or serious speed 
breaches the system automatically generates 
SMS and email alerts to key personnel. 

Drivers are provided with two panic alarm 
buttons for emergencies, one on the vehicle’s 
dashboard and the other on the vehicle’s key. 
When pressed for three seconds the vehicle’s 
location is instantaneously sent to key personnel, 
who can trigger an appropriate emergency 
response plan. The control room is operated 24 
hours a day with staff constantly monitoring the 
VSSMS screen.

Since the introduction of the VSSMS the 
frequency of vehicle incidents has declined by 
half, vehicle rollovers have reduced. Lone drivers 
also report that they feel less isolated when 
travelling, knowing that they have fast and direct 
satellite communication link to a control room.

The project was awarded the Industry Choice 
Award in the Chamber of Mineral and Energy’s 
2008 Innovation Awards.
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UED 
Noise mitigation
UED takes a long-term view on all asset 
management aspects including the proactive 
mitigation of noisy plant and equipment. UED 
has an ongoing noise mitigation program that 
seeks to ensure that all major items of plant 
remain under the noise level standards set out 
by the EPA.

Multinet 
Natural gas extension program
Multinet has been an active participant in the 
Victorian State Government’s natural gas 
extension program by successfully tendering to 
supply natural gas to towns in the Yarra Ranges 
and South Gippsland.

The Yarra Ranges project is now complete and 
supplying over 3,500 customers with natural gas. 
The gas has displaced less environmentally 
friendly and more expensive fuel sources for 
these customers.

The South Gippsland project is well under way 
with construction of the distribution network in 
progress in the towns. It is expected that gas 
supply to customers will commence in the first 
half of CY2009, providing the community with 
a cheaper and cleaner alternative for cooking 
and heating needs.

AlintaGas Networks
Network expansion
AGN continues to grow its distribution networks, 
thereby providing its customers with access to 
natural gas. This allows customers to choose a 
cheap and clean fuel source for their cooking 
and heating needs.

Duquesne Light
Help for low-income customers
Duquesne Light implemented the Stay Warm 
program to assist low-income families during the 
winter of 2007 to 2008. The program provides 
low-income customers with a free home energy 
audit, education and advice on how to save 
energy. Where needed, energy-reduction 
measures are applied, including the installation 
of compact fluorescent bulbs.

Duquesne Light also offers a wide range of free 
programs year-round to assist low-income 
families, seniors and others in need to pay their 
electric bills and learn how to use energy more 
efficiently. 

In addition, prior to the start of each winter, 
a dedicated group of Duquesne Light volunteer 
employees assist eligible individuals to complete 
applications for federal low-income home energy 
assistance program grants. This program 
provides grants to low-and limited-income 
homeowners and renters to help pay for their 
home energy bills. 

Environmental and Social 
Responsibility Management continued
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Economic development initiative
Duquesne Light has implemented a new 
economic development program to encourage 
commercial and industrial customers to expand, 
creating new jobs in the company’s service area. 
The program offers discounted electricity prices 
of up to US$3 per megawatt-hour (MWh) of new 
load for up to three years at a new or expanded 
facility. 

Power of Light program 
The Power of Light corporate outreach program 
focuses on lighting initiatives to promote 
economic vitality, safety and security in the 
communities and neighbourhoods that 
Duquesne Light serves, as well as illuminating 
regional and neighbourhood landmarks and 
recreational areas. The program builds on 
successful recent partnerships including 
Pittsburgh Festival of Lights, architectural lighting 
of Penn Avenue and the Roberto Clemente 
Bridge, new safety lights installed on Smallman 
Street as part of an urban re-development 
project in Pittsburgh, and the various community 
recreation areas that have received grants to 
help install lighting.

Top customer satisfaction rating in country
Duquesne Light ended 2007 as the highest rated 
of approximately 100 electric utilities across the 
US in terms of customer satisfaction. Reliability 
remains the foundation for the company’s 
continued high customer satisfaction rating, with 
92% of customers providing a positive rating.
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DUET is a Macquarie Group (Macquarie) and 
AMP Capital Investors Limited (AMPCI) branded 
externally managed stapled group comprised of 
three Australian trusts and an Australian public 
company.

Macquarie’s expertise in managing funds and 
their businesses and sourcing new value-adding 
opportunities is a key attraction for investors in 
its managed vehicles. Investors are principally 
seeking to harness Macquarie’s expertise in 
sourcing, investing in and managing businesses 
(made available through the management 
arrangements), as well as the expertise of 
appropriately qualified external directors. 

A variety of investment vehicles can be used, 
through which funds are pooled to be invested in 
assets. Stapled groups have developed due to 
differing regulatory regimes for different vehicles 
and the broad objective of managed funds to 
maximise distributions from underlying 
businesses to investors. For example, an 
appropriate structure for holding Australian 
investments may not be appropriate for the 
purposes of holding foreign investments.

In the case of Australian trusts, a responsible 
entity/manager owned by the sponsors with 
sponsor-appointed directors has been a 
common structural feature since the inception 
of these types of investment vehicles.

DUET’s management arrangements are 
designed to promote consistency of 
management across all the entities in DUET.

DUET’s management arrangements and 
corporate governance framework are outlined 
below.

Management arrangements
DUET’s structure 
The securities of the four entities are listed 
on the ASX and must trade together.

The managers, which are owned 50% by AMP 
Capital Holdings Limited (AMPCH) and 50% by 
Macquarie Capital Group Limited (MCGL), are 
AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure Management 
No.1 Limited (RE1) for DUET1 and DIHL and 
AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure Management 
No.2 Limited (RE2) for DUET2 and DUET3.

Corporate Governance Statement
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UED

DUET1 DUET2 DUET3 DIHL

Responsible Entity 1
(RE1)

AMP Capital Macquarie Capital
Responsible Entity 2

(RE2)

DUET stapled securities

50% 50%

AlintaGas Networks

Multinet

DBP1

 

 

Duquesne Light 29.0%33.0%33.0%

39.95%39.95%

32.45%32.45%

12.95%12.95%

1 As at 30 June 2008 
DUET’s economic 
interest will reduce 
to 60% as the other 
investors pay up 
their partly paid 
equity.
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The three trusts are ASIC-registered managed 
investment schemes and their combined 
trustees/managers, RE1 and RE2, each are 
known as the responsible entity. RE1’s and RE2’s 
management roles are defined by the trust 
constitutions, the Corporations Act and the 
general law. There is no separate management 
agreement.

The Australian public company DIHL has a 
separate management agreement with RE1.

There is also a stapling agreement in place 
between all entities and RE1 and RE2 setting out  
cooperation arrangements for the operation of 
the stapled structure.

The management arrangements are broadly 
consistent across the three entities and the key 
terms are described in the table below. 

Investment 
mandate

DUET’s principal investment policy is widely defined and includes investments 
in energy utility assets in OECD countries, principally in Australia and 
New Zealand.

Services 
(manager to 
the company)

Investment and divestment evaluation and recommendations –
Asset management –
Capital management –
Financial reporting –
Investor communications and meetings –
General fund administration. (Subject to outsourcing of registry and trust  –
custodial services to Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited 
(ABN 48 078 279 277), Trust Company Limited (ABN 59 004 027 749) 
and Perpetual Trustee Company Limited (ABN 42 000 001 007))
Monitoring of fund operational risk and compliance. –

Term In perpetuity for both trusts and company or until the manager is removed 
or retires.

Termination Each trust and company, without cause, by security holder vote. The manager 
of the company can only be removed on a vote if the responsible entity of the 
trusts is also removed on a vote. 

For each trust and company the resolution must be passed by at least 50% 
of votes cast at a meeting by security holders entitled to vote. Managers 
and associates may vote their securities on the resolution.

No termination fees are payable other than any accrued base fees and 
performance fees for the period to termination.

Fees Refer to Principle 8 on page 40 and the remuneration report page on page 72 
for details.

Expenses Refer to Principle 8 on page 40 for details.

Discretions The board of the responsible entity of the trusts makes all investment, 
divestment and operational decisions.

The manager mandate for the company is non-discretionary. All investment, 
divestment and operational decisions are made by the board of the company. 
The manager only makes recommendations.
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Related party 
protocols

The trusts and company have adopted a detailed related party protocol covering 
transactions with and services provided by Macquarie and AMP companies and 
other managed funds/vehicles.

All related party transactions or services are on arm’s length terms and approved 
by the DUET independent directors only. Macquarie and AMP executive directors 
do not vote or, unless invited to do so by the independent directors, participate in 
discussion on related party matters.

Asset acquisition or sale transactions with related parties for 5% or greater 
of fund value are supported by an independent valuation.

Mandates for the provision of services with DUET stapled entities or their 
controlled businesses are subject to third party independent review unless the 
independent directors determine otherwise on the basis of appropriate market 
information or practice.

Third party independent review is mostly carried out by the corporate advisory 
divisions of large accounting firms. In the case of the provision of services, the 
reviewers have regard to market evidence gathered from their own enquiries 
including information requested from Macquarie. For asset sales or acquisitions 
the reviewer carries out its own valuation. DUET independent directors have put 
in place a panel of reviewers (which does not include the DUET auditor).

Swap and foreign exchange transactions with Macquarie companies solely for 
hedging purposes are subject to pre-approvals if certain conditions are met.

Only significant volume securities transactions with a Macquarie broker require 
independent director approval.

Change of control DUET co-invests from time to time with other Macquarie companies or managed 
vehicles. Co-investment arrangements may include pre-emption and tag-along or 
drag-along rights in favour of each other typical of those agreed with third party 
co-investors. They may also include pre-emptive rights which are triggered on 
removal of the Macquarie managers. Refer to the Duquesne Light description on 
page 16 for details.

In addition, loan facilities for DUET stapled entities (which are currently undrawn) 
or DUET businesses may provide for acceleration of loan payments if DUET is no 
longer managed by a Macquarie or AMP company.

Removal of manager trigger events are typically put in place because 
counterparties (both equity and debt providers) require ongoing Macquarie 
or AMP involvement in the management of the fund or particular business.

The DUET independent directors obtain separate legal advice as necessary and 
the arrangements are approved by the independent directors and disclosed to 
security holders.

Variation to 
management 
arrangements

Any variations adverse to security holders’ rights or in respect of changes to 
fee structures to increase fees would involve trust constitution amendments and 
therefore effectively require approval by 75% by value of votes cast at a meeting 
by security holders entitled to vote.

Director 
appointment 
rights

The combined managers have director appointment rights for 100% of the board 
of the company. 

Macquarie and AMPCI appoint one director each to the board of the managers of 
the trusts (and is able to appoint one independent director to each of the 
managers of the trusts) as they are Macquarie and AMPCI joint venture vehicles.

Refer to Principle 2 on page 33 for more detail.
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What you can find on our website:
DUET1 constitution –
DUET2 constitution –
DUET3 constitution –
DIHL constitution. –

DUET’s approach to corporate governance
The DUET boards are committed to DUET’s 
achievement of superior financial performance 
and long-term prosperity, while meeting 
stakeholders’ expectations of sound corporate 
governance practices. This statement outlines 
DUET’s main corporate governance practices 
as at 30 June 2008. Unless otherwise stated, 
they reflect the practices in place throughout 
the financial year ending on that date.

The boards determine the corporate governance 
arrangements for DUET. As with all its business 
activities, DUET is proactive in respect of 
corporate governance and puts in place those 
arrangements which it considers are in the 
best interests of DUET and its investors and 
consistent with its responsibilities to other 
stakeholders. It actively reviews Australian 
and international developments in corporate 
governance.

DUET is part of the stable of Macquarie 
managed vehicles and is jointly managed 
with the AMP Group but operates within the 
Macquarie Capital Funds division. Accordingly, 
in setting the corporate governance framework 
the DUET boards have also undertaken to 
comply with the Macquarie Funds Management 
Policy (Macquarie Fund Policy). This policy has 
been devised by Macquarie to safeguard the 
interests of investors in the managed vehicles, 
which at times may conflict with those of 
Macquarie as manager of the vehicles.

The key elements of the Macquarie Fund 
Policy are:

Conflicts of interest arising between Macquarie 
managed vehicles and its related parties should 
be managed appropriately and, in particular:

Related party transactions should be identified  –
clearly and conducted on arm’s length terms
Related party transactions should be tested by  –
reference to whether they meet market standards
Decisions about transactions between  –
Macquarie managed vehicles and Macquarie 
or its affiliates should be made by parties 
independent of Macquarie.

The boards of both the corporate vehicles and 
the management company/responsible entity of 
the trusts of listed Macquarie managed vehicles 
which are stapled groups will comprise at least 
50% independent directors and at least one of 
the boards in each stapled group will have a 
majority of independents.

The funds management business should be 
resourced appropriately. In particular:

There is a separate Macquarie Capital Funds  –
(MacCap Funds) division and staff in this area 
should be dedicated to the funds management 
business
All recommendations to the boards of Macquarie  –
managed vehicles should be reviewed or 
prepared by MacCap Funds staff
Each listed Macquarie managed vehicle that  –
invests in operating businesses should have 
its own managing director or chief executive 
officer
Chinese walls operate to separate Macquarie’s  –
investment advisory and equity capital markets 
business from MacCap Funds.

DUET as a Macquarie co-managed vehicle has 
also applied these principles to transactions 
with entities in the Macquarie and AMP Group.

ASX Corporate Governance Principles 
The ASX Corporate Governance Council (the 
Council) has Corporate Governance Principles 
and Recommendations (the Principles) which 
are designed to maximise corporate 
performance and accountability in the interests 
of shareholders and the broader economy. The 
Principles encompass matters such as board 
composition, committees and compliance 
procedures.

The Principles can be viewed at www.asx.com.au. 
The Principles are not prescriptive; however 
listed entities (including DUET) are required to 
disclose the extent of their compliance with the 
Principles, and to explain why they have not 
adopted a Principle if they consider it 
inappropriate in their particular circumstances.

On 2 August 2007 the Council issued revised 
Principles. While the revised Principles take 
effect for financial years commencing after 
1 January 2008, DUET has elected to report 
early against the revised Principles.

DUET’s corporate governance statement is in the 
form of a report against the Principles. DUET’s 
corporate governance policies largely conform 
to the Principles. Any deviation is because of 
DUET’s externally managed structure and the 
requirements of the Macquarie Fund Policy. 
We have noted the differences in our reporting.
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Principle 1: Lay solid foundations for 
management and oversight
Responsibility for corporate governance and the 
internal working of each DUET entity rests with 
the board of RE1, RE2 or DIHL, as the case may 
be. The board of each company has adopted a 
formal charter of directors’ functions and matters 
to be delegated to management, having regard 
to the recommendations in the Principles.

An outline of the boards’ responsibilities as set 
out in each company’s charter is set out below:

Setting objectives, goals and strategic direction  –
for management, with a view to maximising 
investor wealth
Monitoring the implementation of DUET’s  –
investment policy 
Approving and monitoring the progress of major  –
capital expenditure, capital management, 
acquisitions and divestures
Adopting an annual budget for the managed  –
vehicle and monitoring its financial performance
Consulting with Macquarie and AMPCI on the  –
appointment or, where appropriate, removal of 
the CEO, COO or CFO or their equivalents
Participating in the review of the performances of  –
the CEO, COO and CFO or their equivalents and 
where appropriate replacing those officers
Appointing and removing the company secretary –
Monitoring senior management’s, or in the case  –
of DIHL, RE1’s performance, implementation of 
strategy, and resources
Reviewing, ratifying and monitoring systems of  –
risk management, compliance and codes of 
conduct 
Approving and monitoring financial and other  –
reporting
Setting the highest business standards and  –
codes for ethical behaviour.

Full board meetings are held at least bimonthly 
for RE1, RE2 and DIHL, and other meetings are 
called as required. Directors are provided with 
board reports in advance of board meetings, 
which contain sufficient information to enable 
informed discussion of all agenda items.

Each independent/non-executive director 
of RE1, RE2 and DIHL has received a letter of 
appointment which details the key terms of their 
appointment. This letter has been enhanced for 
the more recent board appointments to include 
all of the recommended matters in the Principles.

The CEO, CFO and COO, being DUET’s senior 
executives, have formalised job descriptions and, 
as Macquarie Capital and AMPCI employees, 
letters of appointment.

To ensure that the DUET senior executives 
properly perform their duties, the following 
procedures are in place:

The CEO and CFO are Macquarie Capital  –
employees seconded to RE1 or RE2 as required. 
Their performance is assessed by Macquarie in 
March each year as part of Macquarie’s formal 
employee performance evaluation process. 
The COO is an AMP employee seconded to RE1 
or RE2 as required. The COO’s performance is 
assessed as part of AMPCI’s performance 
appraisal process. The relevant boards provide 
annual feedback on the performance of the CEO, 
CFO and COO 
A review of the performance of RE1 as adviser  –
against its contractual obligations by the DIHL 
independent directors, with external assistance 
if required
A formal induction program to allow senior  –
executives to participate fully and actively 
in management decision-making
Access by executives to continuing education to  –
update and enhance their skills and knowledge.

The above process was followed for the year 
ended 30 June 2008.

What you can find on our website:
A summary of the RE1, RE2 and DIHL  –
board charters.

Corporate Governance Statement continued



DUET Group Annual Report 2008
33

Principle 2: Structure the board to add value
1. Composition
RE1 board of directors
The RE1 board of directors is comprised 
as follows:

Philip Garling – Chairman
Executive (appointed by AMPCH – 
17 February 2004)
Director and Chairman

John Roberts – Director
Executive (appointed by Macquarie – 
14 May 2004)
Director

The Hon. Michael Lee – Director
Independent (appointed 16 June 2004)
Director

Douglas Halley – Director
Independent (appointed 13 February 2006)
Director

Emma Stein – Director
Independent (appointed 16 June 2004)
Director

RE2 board of directors
The RE2 board of directors is comprised 
as follows:

Philip Garling – Chairman
Executive (appointed by AMPCH – 
17 February 2004)
Director and Chairman

John Roberts – Director
Executive (appointed by Macquarie – 
14 May 2004)
Director

Ron Finlay – Director
Independent (appointed 16 June 2004)
Director

Eric Goodwin – Director
Independent (appointed 16 June 2004)
Director

Duncan Sutherland – Director
Independent (appointed 16 June 2004)
Director

DIHL board of directors
The DIHL board of directors is comprised 
as follows:

Philip Garling – Chairman
Executive (appointed by RE2 – 29 June 2006)
Director and Chairman

John Roberts – Director
Executive (appointed by RE1 – 29 June 2006)
Director

Douglas Halley – Director
Independent (appointed by RE2 – 29 June 2006)
Director

Emma Stein – Director 
Independent (appointed by RE1 – 12 July 2006)
Director

Ron Finlay – Director
Independent (appointed by RE1 and RE2 – 
4 August 2006)
Director

Profiles of these directors can be found on the 
DUET website and later in this report.

2. Appointment to the boards
ASX has granted listing rule waivers to facilitate 
Macquarie and AMPCH appointed directors for 
the Australian public company in the same way 
as they are appointed for the responsible entity 
of the trusts. In the context of an externally 
managed vehicle, Macquarie and AMPCH 
believe that these arrangements promote 
consistency of management and are for the 
benefit of investors. Macquarie considers the 
selection of appropriately experienced 
independent directors as an important 
contribution to DUET’s performance. From an 
investor protection viewpoint, DUET has a 
majority of independent directors on the 
combined DUET boards. Though Macquarie and 
AMPCI appointees, these directors are 
reputable, appropriately qualified and 
experienced businesspeople who satisfy 
market-standard independence criteria. These 
directors have a duty at law to prefer the interests 
of DUET investors to those of Macquarie or 
AMPCH.
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Details of the appointment arrangements are set 
out below.

RE1 
RE1 and RE2 are jointly owned by MCGL (a 
subsidiary of Macquarie Group Limited (MGL)) 
and AMPCH (a subsidiary of AMP Limited (AMP)) 
and directors are appointed to RE1 and RE2 in 
consultation with the MGL and AMPCH boards. 
The following board composition and 
membership criteria have been adopted by the 
board in consultation with MGL and AMPCH:

The board is to comprise at least four directors.  –
Additional directors may be appointed if the 
board feels that additional expertise is required 
in specific areas, or when an outstanding 
candidate is identified
New appointments to the board require full RE1  –
and RE2 board approval
Independent directors are to comprise a majority  –
of the board
The board is to comprise directors with an  –
appropriate range of qualifications and expertise
Any nominee of AMPCH or Macquarie may be  –
removed by AMPCH or Macquarie, respectively
The chairperson of each board will be the  –
nominee director appointed by AMPCH for the 
first three years from establishment of DUET 
and thereafter on each third anniversary the 
chairperson may be rotated such that the 
shareholder appointing the chairperson is not 
the shareholder appointing the DUET CEO. 
The shareholder appointing the chairperson will 
ensure that the person is of appropriate stature 
to act as chairperson.
To ensure that the board has the benefit of 
regular new input and to avoid the potential for 
loss of objectivity over time, independent 
directors will retire after nine years.

Independence of directors determined by 
objective criteria is acknowledged as being 
desirable to protect investor interests and to 
optimise the financial performance of the fund 
and returns to investors.

In determining the status of a director, the 
DUET boards have adopted the standards of 
independence required by the MGL Fund Policy 
as amended to contemplate the joint venture 
arrangement with AMP Group. Details are 
as follows:

An independent director is a director of the 
responsible entity and/or special purpose vehicle 
who is not a member of management (a non-
executive director) and who (to the satisfaction 
of the MGL board corporate governance 
committee) meets the following criteria:

Is not a substantial shareholder of: –
MGL, AMP or DUET, or –
A company holding more than 5% of the voting  –
securities of MGL, AMP or DUET

Is not an officer, or otherwise associated directly  –
or indirectly with a shareholder holding more 
than 5% of the voting securities, of MGL, AMP 
or DUET
Is not and has not, within the last three years,  –
been:

Employed in an executive capacity by the  –
responsible entity and/or special purpose 
vehicle, or by another Macquarie or AMP 
entity, or
A director of any such entity after ceasing  –
to hold any such employment
A principal or employee of a professional  –
adviser to DUET, Macquarie, AMP or other 
Macquarie or AMP managed vehicles whose 
billings to DUET, Macquarie, AMP or other 
Macquarie or AMP managed vehicles over the 
previous full year, in aggregate, exceed 5% of 
the adviser’s total revenues over that period
A director who is a principal or employee of a  –
professional adviser will not participate in any 
consideration of the possible appointment of 
the professional adviser and will not participate 
in the provision of any service to DUET, 
Macquarie, AMP or another Macquarie or AMP 
managed vehicle.

Is not a significant supplier or customer of DUET,  –
Macquarie, AMP or other Macquarie or AMP 
managed vehicles, or an officer of or otherwise 
associated directly or indirectly with, a significant 
supplier or customer. A significant supplier is 
defined as one whose revenues from DUET, 
Macquarie, AMP and other Macquarie or AMP 
managed vehicles exceed 5% of the supplier’s 
total revenue. A significant customer is one 
whose amounts payable to DUET, Macquarie, 
AMP and other Macquarie or AMP managed 
vehicles exceed 5% of the customer’s total 
operating costs
Has no material contractual relationship with  –
Macquarie or AMP other than as a director of a 
responsible entity and/or special purpose vehicle
Is not a director of more than two Macquarie  –
related responsible entities or special purpose 
vehicle boards
Has no other interest or relationship that could  –
interfere with the director’s ability to act in the 
best interests of the Macquarie managed vehicle 
and independently of management of Macquarie 
or AMP.
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Where an individual may not meet one or more of 
the above criteria but the MGL board corporate 
governance committee makes a specific 
determination that, in the particular overall 
circumstances of that individual, the fact that 
these criteria have not been met would not 
prevent the individual from exercising 
independent judgment on the relevant board(s).

The standards of independence which have been 
applied are substantively similar to but are not 
the same as those suggested in the Principles.

The main area of difference is that the Macquarie 
Fund Policy is designed to ensure that 
independent directors are independent from 
each of DUET management, Macquarie and 
AMP. The directors believe that the adoption of 
the Macquarie Fund Policy definition of 
independence (as adjusted above) better reflects 
the true nature of independence in the present 
circumstances and does not materially prejudice 
security holders.

The ability of independent directors to serve on 
up to two separate managed vehicle boards is 
considered appropriate because the time 
commitment and level of remuneration for these 
roles is not so significant as to compromise 
independence.

DUET considers that the independence of its 
directors, each of whom is a highly qualified 
and reputable business person and professional 
who satisfies the above criteria, does not depend 
on who appoints them but on their independence 
of mind, including an ability to constructively 
challenge and independently contribute to 
the boards. Independent directors are asked 
to confirm their independence status on 
appointment, and on an annual basis, and 
to notify the board if they cease to satisfy 
the criteria.

The following guidelines apply to director 
selection and nomination by Macquarie 
and AMP:

Integrity –
Particular expertise (sector and functional) and  –
the degree to which they complement the skill 
set of the existing board members
Reputation and standing in the market –
In the case of prospective independent directors,  –
actual (as prescribed by the above definition) and 
perceived independence from Macquarie.

The board has not appointed a nomination 
committee. The board does not consider such a 
committee appropriate in circumstances where 
there are only two shareholders and it has 
adopted the Macquarie Fund Policy set out 
above. It is considered that this process is 
sufficiently transparent to justify not appointing 
a nomination committee. 

DIHL 
Under the DIHL constitution, RE1 has been 
issued with an A Special Share (and has rights 
under the management services agreement) 
which entitles it to appoint director(s) constituting 
up to 40% of the DIHL board. RE2, as 
responsible entity of DUET2, has been issued 
with a B Special Share which entitles it to 
appoint director(s) constituting up to 40% of the 
DIHL board while the entities are stapled. RE1 
and RE2 (in their capacity as responsible entity 
of DUET1 and DUET2 respectively) have each 
been issued with a C Special Share, which 
entitles them to jointly appoint director(s) 
constituting up to 20% of the DIHL board. None 
of the A, B or C special shares has any economic 
interest, which means that the holders of those 
shares are not entitled to any dividends and are 
only entitled to the par value of those shares on 
a winding up of DIHL.

The rationale for this approach is that under the 
stapling arrangements, the practical operation of 
the RE1, RE2 and DIHL boards is such that no 
significant decision (in particular strategy, capital 
raisings, borrowings and investments) can be 
made by one board without the consultation and 
consideration of the other board, and the DIHL 
board has a sufficient quorum of independent 
directors to vote on transactions with Macquarie 
or AMP companies.

In determining the status of directors, the 
DIHL board has adopted the standards of 
independence required by the Macquarie Fund 
Policy, as adjusted, as set out above.

The DIHL board has not constituted a nomination 
committee because, as a consequence of the 
management arrangements established for DIHL 
and its participation in the stapling arrangements 
with DUET1, DUET2 and DUET3, its directors are 
nominated by the relevant responsible entities 
having regard to the board charter criteria and 
Macquarie Fund Policy requirements.
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3. Chairman
The chairman of each board is Philip Garling. 
Philip is an executive of AMPCH and the director 
appointed by AMPCH, and as such does not 
satisfy the independence recommendation of 
the Principles. The joint venture arrangements 
require the responsible entities’ chairman to be 
an executive chairman given DUET1, DUET2 
and DUET3 are externally managed trusts and 
Macquarie and AMP branded.

The right to appoint the chairman may be rotated 
between AMPCH and Macquarie so that the 
party who has not appointed the incumbent 
chairman may appoint the chairman for the next 
three years, provided the CEO is also rotated. 

The appointing shareholder is required to ensure 
that the chairman is of appropriate stature for a 
listed entity. 

The board charters for each of the responsible 
entities provide that all independent directors 
will meet at least once per year in the absence 
of management and at other times as they 
determine. 

In all cases, the chairman does not exercise the 
role of CEO. That role is performed by Peter 
Barry who was appointed as CEO in June 2004. 

The RE1, RE2 and DIHL board charters provide 
that all independent directors will meet at least 
once per year in the absence of management 
and at other times as they determine. This 
requirement was met for the year ended 
30 June 2008.

4. Independent professional advice
The directors of RE1, RE2 and DIHL are entitled 
to obtain independent professional advice at the 
cost of the relevant trust or company subject to 
the estimated costs being first approved by the 
chairman as reasonable.

5. Board performance
To ensure that the directors of RE1, RE2 and 
DIHL are properly performing their duties, the 
following procedures are in place:

A formal annual performance self-assessment  –
of the board, the audit and risk committees and 
individual directors
A formal induction program for directors –
Access by directors to continuing education to  –
update and enhance their skills and knowledge.

The procedure for evaluation of the boards’ 
performance is: 

Directors are given the opportunity to discuss  –
individual performance and feedback on 
performance via questionnaire and if necessary 
the chairman meets with each independent 
director to discuss the effectiveness of the board 
and board committees as a whole
The board as a whole discusses and analyses  –
board and committee performance during the 
year, including suggestions for change or 
improvement, based on the questionnaire 
responses and the chairman’s feedback from 
conducting separate meetings (if any) with the 
independent directors.

The above process was followed for the year 
ended 30 June 2008.

Principle 3: Promote ethical and responsible 
decision-making
DUET’s code of conduct sets out principles and 
standards for the directors and executives in 
respect of practices necessary to maintain 
confidence in DUET’s integrity, and the 
responsibility and accountability of individuals for 
reporting and investigating reports of unethical 
behaviour. The code includes whistleblower, 
anti-corruption and dealing with governments, 
and anti-money laundering policies.

The code also encompasses principles for 
compliance with legal and other obligations to 
DUET’s stakeholders, including security holders, 
employees, customers, and the broader financial 
and other communities in which DUET operates. 

The code is periodically reviewed and endorsed 
by the RE1, RE2 and DIHL boards. The code 
is distributed to all directors and staff and 
reinforced at induction and other training 
programs.

A policy on securities dealings is in place under 
which directors and staff involved in the 
management of DUET are restricted in their 
ability to deal in DUET stapled securities. 
Security trading by DUET directors, officers and 
staff is permitted only during four-week special 
trading windows following the release of DUET’s 
half-yearly and yearly financial results, and 
following the annual general meeting or 
lodgement with ASIC and ASX of a disclosure 
document for a capital raising or a cleansing 
statement for a rights issue.

When the trading window is not opened following 
results announcements, pending disclosure of 
significant transactional activity being 
undertaken by DUET, a special four-week trading 
window may apply following an ASX release in 
respect of the transaction.
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Special arrangements apply for the trading by 
nominees of RE1 and RE2 (and their associates) 
of DUET securities issued in connection with 
performance fees. Standing instructions must be 
given to a Macquarie broker during a designated 
directors and staff trading window to sell at 
above a designated price with the trade to 
take place at any time in accordance with the 
instructions. Any instructions given will be on the 
basis that Chinese walls are operating with the 
broker at all times during the currency of the 
instruction. Alternatively, the securities will be 
placed in a blind trust with an external broker 
during a trading window with irrevocable 
instructions to sell at above a designated price 
with the trade to take place at any time in 
accordance with instructions.

DUET’s approach to environmental and social 
responsibility management is set out on pages 
24 to 27 of this report.

What you can find on our website:
A summary of the code of conduct –
A summary of the main provisions of the  –
securities (windows) trading policy
A description of DUET’s environmental and  –
social responsibility management policy.

Principle 4: Safeguard integrity in 
financial reporting
1. Audit and risk committees
Each of RE1, RE2 and DIHL has appointed an 
audit and risk committee which complies with 
the requirements of the Principles. They are 
currently comprised as follows: 

RE1:

Douglas Halley – Director 
(Committee Chairman) Independent – 41

The Hon. Michael Lee – Director Independent – 41

Emma Stein – Director Independent – 41

RE2: 

Duncan Sutherland – Director 
(Committee Chairman) Independent – 41 

Ron Finlay – Director Independent – 41

Eric Goodwin – Director Independent – 41

DIHL:

Douglas Halley – Director 
(Committee Chairman) Independent – 41

Emma Stein – Director Independent – 41

Ron Finlay – Director Independent – 41

  1 Meetings attended (4 held).

The qualifications of the members of each audit 
and risk committee can be found on the DUET 
website and later in this report.

2. Audit and risk committee charters
In establishing its audit and risk committee, each 
of RE1, RE2 and DIHL has established a charter 
under which the committee is to operate. The 
charter is materially the same for both 
companies.

The responsibilities of the audit and risk 
committee under each charter in relation to 
financial reporting are to:

Review and report to the board on the financial  –
statements and related notes, and on the 
external auditor’s audit of the financial 
statements and the report thereon
Recommend to the board the appointment and  –
removal of the external auditor, review the terms 
of its engagement including arrangements for the 
rotation of external audit partners, and the scope 
and quality of the audit
Monitor auditor independence. The audit and risk  –
committee meets with the external auditor at 
least twice a year and more frequently if 
required. 

Details of the risk monitoring duties of the audit 
and risk committee are set out in the Principle 7 
commentary.

3. Auditor independence 
The audit and risk committees have adopted a 
policy which includes the following to ensure the 
independence of the external auditor:

The external auditor must remain independent  –
from Macquarie and DUET at all times and must 
comply with APES 110: Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants pertaining to financial 
independence, and business and employment 
relationships
The external auditor must monitor its  –
independence and report to the board every 
six months that it has remained independent 
Significant permissible non-audit assignments  –
awarded to the external auditor must be 
approved in advance by the audit and risk 
committees (or their chairmen between 
meetings)
All non-audit assignments are to be reported to  –
the audit and risk committees every six months
The DUET audit engagement partner and review  –
partner must be rotated every five years.
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The RE1, RE2 and DIHL boards and audit and 
risk committees are of the view that, at the 
present time, Ernst & Young is best placed to 
provide DUET’s audit services. Ernst & Young 
is a top tier professional services firm and has 
provided audit services to DUET since its 
establishment and is familiar with its structure 
and businesses. The auditor is required to be 
independent from DUET and Macquarie. 
Ernst & Young meets this requirement. 

The auditor attends DUET’s annual general 
meetings and is available to answer security 
holder questions on the conduct of the audit, 
and the preparation and content of the auditor’s 
report.

What you can find on our website:
The audit and risk committee charters for RE1,  –
RE2 and DIHL
Procedures for selection and appointment of the  –
external auditor and for rotation of external audit 
engagement partners.

Principle 5: Make timely and balanced disclosure
It is DUET’s policy to provide timely, open and 
accurate information to all stakeholders, 
including investors, regulators and the wider 
investment community. Under the terms of the 
stapling deed, RE1, RE2 and DIHL are obliged 
to exchange relevant information and coordinate 
ASX releases and financial reporting.

DUET has an external communications policy 
which includes policies and procedures in 
relation to disclosure and compliance with the 
disclosure requirements in the ASX Listing Rules.

The procedures include dealing with potentially 
price-sensitive information which includes 
referral to the CEO and company secretary/
general counsel for a determination as to 
disclosure required. The ASX liaison person 
is the RE1 company secretary.

What you can find on our website:
External communications policy summary. –

Principle 6: Respect the rights of shareholders
DUET has developed a security holder 
communications policy. The cornerstone of 
this policy is the delivery of timely and relevant 
information as described below. 

Investors are provided with an annual report and 
financial statements either by accessing DUET’s 
website or in hard copy, if specifically requested, 
which keep them informed of DUET’s 
performance and operations. Investors are 
notified in writing when this material becomes 
available and are provided with details of how 
to access it.

DUET’s policy is to lodge market-sensitive 
information with the ASX and place it on its 
website, including annual and interim result 
announcements and analyst presentations, as 
soon as practically possible. DUET’s website 
(www.duet.net.au) contains recent 
announcements, presentations, past and current 
reports to security holders, answers to frequently 
asked questions and at least a three-year 
summary of key financial data. Investors may 
also register here to receive email copies of 
DUET’s significant ASX announcements.

Domestic investor roadshows are held regularly 
throughout Australia. International roadshows are 
also held for institutional investors. Where they 
contain new information, analyst and roadshow 
presentations are released to the ASX and 
included on the DUET website. 

DUET also produces an analyst package which 
is updated annually. This comprehensive guide 
aims to provide transparency of DUET’s 
investments and structure. The analyst package 
is released to the ASX and consists of detailed 
business descriptions, corresponding financial 
variables and financial modelling tools.

Meetings of the three DUET entities are 
convened at least once a year, usually in 
November. DIHL is required to hold an annual 
general meeting (AGM) each year.

In the case of the trusts, which are not required 
under the Corporations Act to hold an AGM, 
these are usually informal annual meetings 
unless there is formal business to be considered. 
An AGM is held for DIHL at the same time.

Presentations by the chairman and CEO at the 
AGM are webcast.

For formal meetings, an explanatory 
memorandum on the resolutions is included 
with the notice of meeting.

Unless specifically stated in the notice of 
meeting, all holders of fully paid securities 
are eligible to vote on all resolutions. 

In the event that security holders cannot attend 
formal meetings they are able to lodge a proxy 
in accordance with the Corporations Act. Proxy 
forms can be mailed or lodged by facsimile or 
electronically.

What you can find on our website:
External communications policy summary –
The latest annual report and full financial  –
statements.

Corporate Governance Statement continued
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Principle 7: Recognise and manage risk
Each of RE1, RE2 and DIHL have formalised risk 
management policies. Compliance with these 
policies is monitored by their respective audit 
and risk committees.

Risks are managed through the risk management 
framework in place and include:

Investment risk –
Regulatory and reporting risks –
Financial risks (such as liquidity, interest rate,  –
currency, investment, credit)
Legal risk (such as contract enforceability,  –
covenants, litigation)
Compliance risk –
Operational risks (such as people, processes,  –
infrastructure, technology, systems, outsourcing 
and geographic coverage)
Environmental and social risks –
Occupational health and safety risks –
Project risks –
Business performance risks –
Reputation risks (such as investor relations,  –
media management)
Strategic risks. –

As part of its risk monitoring duties each audit 
and risk committee is required to:

i.  Enquire of management and the external 
auditor about significant risks or exposures and 
assess the steps management (RE1 or RE2) has 
taken to minimise such risk to the trusts or 
company as applicable

ii.  Consider and review with the external auditor:

  – The adequacy of the trusts’/company’s  
internal controls including computerised 
information system controls and security

  – Any related significant findings and  
recommendations of the external auditor 
on the matter of internal controls together 
with management’s responses thereto

iii.  Monitor and review (at least annually) the 
effectiveness of the trusts’/company’s 
operational risk management framework 
and compliance with key risk management 
policies 

iv.  Review the scope of any internal audit to 
be conducted and the independence of internal 
audit team.

As required by the Corporations Act, a 
compliance committee and designated 
compliance staff assist the RE1 and RE2 boards 
in overseeing the trusts’ risk management 

framework by monitoring compliance plans and 
ensuring that there is an underlying compliance 
framework including detailed policies and 
procedures, staff training and supervision and 
appropriate compliance reporting. 

The compliance committee is currently 
comprised as follows:

Ray Kellerman, Chairman, External –
Fiona Dixon, External –
Peter Barry, Macquarie/DUET. –

The external compliance committee members 
must satisfy the independence criteria set out in 
s601JB(2) of the Corporations Act. External 
members are required to certify their compliance 
with these requirements on an annual basis and 
otherwise notify RE1 and RE2 if they cease to 
satisfy the criteria.

RE1 and RE2 are subject to periodic review 
conducted by Macquarie’s internal audit division.

Each of DUET’s businesses maintains its own 
risk management framework and supporting 
infrastructure to manage its own risk. DUET’s 
ability to control or influence this framework and 
infrastructure differs based on DUET’s level of 
ownership and control. It is DUET’s policy to 
confirm that each business has an appropriate 
risk management framework in place to assist 
the business to effectively manage its risks.

During the year management has reported to the 
audit and risk committees as to the effectiveness 
of DUET’s management of its material risks. In 
addition, the RE1, RE2 and DIHL boards have 
received assurance from the CEO and CFO 
that their declaration under s295A of the 
Corporations Act 2001 is founded on a sound 
system of risk management and internal control 
and that the system is operating in all material 
respects in relation to financial reporting risks.

What you can find on our website:
A description of DUET’s risk management  –
policies and framework
A description of DUET’s environmental and  –
social responsibility management policy
A description of DUET’s occupational health and  –
safety risk management policy
The compliance plan for DUET1, DUET2 and  –
DUET3
Details of the qualifications of the DUET1, DUET2  –
and DUET3 compliance committee members.

Principle 8: Remunerate fairly and responsibly
Below is a brief description of management and 
performance fee arrangements for RE1 and RE2 
as responsible entity and RE1 as manager, 
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remuneration arrangements in relation to DUET 
staff (whose remuneration is paid by Macquarie 
Capital or AMPCI, not DUET) and also the fees 
paid to DUET external directors. Full details 
and a discussion of DUET remuneration 
arrangements, alignment of interest and 
manager and staff incentives are set out in 
the remuneration report on pages 72 to 75. 
Responsible entity and adviser expenses 
reimbursed by DUET are set out on page 72.

1. Responsible entity and adviser fees
RE1, as responsible entity of DUET1 and 
manager of DIHL, and RE2 as responsible entity 
of DUET2 and DUET3, are entitled to be paid 
base management fees and also performance 
fees for discharging their management/advisory 
functions.

These fees are calculated in accordance with a 
defined formula under the trust constitutions and 
the management services agreement. The fee 
arrangements were fully disclosed to investors 
on fund inception and subsequent restructure 
and continue to be disclosed on the DUET 
website and in annual reports so that investors 
originally invested and continue to invest on 
this basis. The structure and level of the fee 
arrangements are consistent with those paid 
in the market in respect of similar externally 
managed vehicles and are not subject to review. 

Any changes to the fee provisions which would 
have the effect of increasing the fees would 
need to be approved by investors.

2. Reimbursement of responsible entity and 
adviser expenses
RE1 and RE2 are also entitled to be reimbursed 
for expenses incurred by them in relation to the 
proper performance of their duties, out of the 
assets of DUET. This includes routine ongoing 
expenses such as the third party costs of 
acquiring businesses and managing them, 
as well as capital raising costs, registry, audit, 
insurance, compliance costs and other expenses 
as set out in the trust constitutions and 
management services agreement.

3. Staff remuneration 
RE1 and RE2 make available employees, 
including senior executives, to discharge their 
obligations to the relevant DUET entity. These 
staff are employed by entities in Macquarie 
(although the COO is an AMPCI employee) and 
made available through formalised resourcing 
arrangements with RE1 and RE2. Their 
remuneration is not a DUET expense. It is paid 
by Macquarie Capital. Instead DUET pays 
management fees to Macquarie for providing 
management services. These fees are DUET 
expenses and are disclosed on page 72. DIHL 

does not have employees and relies on the RE1 
management staff under the management 
services agreement to implement operational 
decisions and carry out administrative functions. 

DUET holds its businesses through interests in 
special purpose project vehicles. Most of these 
vehicles have their own internal management 
paid for at the business level. Where RE1 or RE2 
staff are required to serve as directors on the 
boards of these vehicles, or are seconded to 
them from time to time, any fees paid in respect 
of these arrangements are paid to DUET.

Senior RE1 and RE2 executives may have some 
of or their entire performance bonus retentions 
notionally invested by Macquarie in DUET 
securities so that the amount varies as if they 
were actually invested in the securities. 
Executives may also receive MGL options as 
part of their remuneration package.

4. Director remuneration
RE1 and RE2 independent director fees are paid 
by RE1 and RE2 in their personal corporate 
capacities respectively. They are not paid by 
the trusts. 

In the case of the Macquarie Capital executive 
directors, remuneration earned in connection 
with their roles as RE1, RE2 or DIHL directors, 
as the case may be, is paid by Macquarie Capital 
and not by RE1, RE2 or DIHL. 

DIHL non-executive director fees are paid by 
DIHL. None of the RE1, RE2 or DIHL directors 
is entitled to DUET options or securities or to 
retirement benefits as part of their remuneration 
package.

Senior Macquarie Capital executives who are 
DUET directors may have some of or all of 
their performance bonus retentions notionally 
invested by Macquarie in DUET securities so 
that the amount varies as if they were actually 
invested in the securities, and may also receive 
MGL options as part of their remuneration 
package. 

5. Remuneration committee
The boards of each of RE1, as responsible entity 
of DUET1 and RE2 as responsible entity of 
DUET2 and DUET3, and DIHL do not consider 
it necessary or appropriate to constitute a 
remuneration committee. Given the payment 
of the management fee (and the fact that any 
change to the determination of that fee would 
require security holder approval) and RE1’s, 
RE2’s and DIHL’s lack of exposure to 
remuneration expenses, a remuneration 
committee is not justified.

What you can find on our website:
The DUET remuneration report. –

Corporate Governance Statement continued
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Explanation of the Financial Report

At 30 June 2008, DUET Group comprises Diversified Utility and Energy Trust No.1 (DUET1), Diversified 
Utility and Energy Trust No.2 (DUET2), Diversified Utility and Energy Trust No.3 (DUET3) and DUET 
Investment Holdings Limited (DIHL) and their subsidiaries (together, DUET). These four stapled 
entities DUET1, DUET2, DUET3 and DIHL trade as one listed security, DUET Group, on the Australian 
Securities Exchange (ASX Code: DUE).

A summary of the Group structure as at 30 June 2008 is illustrated below.

DUET holds a controlling interest in the Dampier Bunbury Natural Gas Pipeline Trust and its 
controlled entities (DBP or Dampier Bunbury Pipeline), United Energy Distribution Holdings Limited 
and its controlled entities (UEDH or United Energy) and Multinet Group Holdings Limited and its 
controlled entities (MGH or Multinet). Accordingly the results, assets and liabilities of these entities 
are consolidated into the DUET Group Financial Report. DUET holds non‑controlling interests in 
Alinta Network Holdings Pty Limited (AGN or Alinta Gas Networks) and DQE Holdings LLC (DQE or 
Duquesne Light) and therefore these investments are equity accounted into the DUET Group Financial 
Report. This means DUET’s share of profits and losses of AGN and DQE are recognised in one line 
in the Income Statement.

Under Australian Accounting Standards, DUET1 has been deemed the parent entity of DUET2, 
DUET3 and DIHL for accounting purposes. Therefore, the DUET1 consolidated financial statements 
include all entities forming DUET.

DBNGP Trust

United Energy 
Distribution 

Holdings 
Limited

Multinet Group 
Holdings 
Limited

Alinta Network 
Holdings Pty 

Limited

DQE Holdings 
LLC

DUET1 DUET2 DUET3 DIHL

Equity and Loan

64.9% 66.0% 79.9% 25.9% 29.0%

Equity and Loan Equity

Loan
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Directors’ Report

AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure Management 
No.1 Limited (RE1) acts as responsible entity for 
Diversified Utility and Energy Trust No.1 (DUET1) 
and manager of DUET Investment Holdings 
Limited (DIHL).

AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure Management 
No.2 Limited (RE2) acts as responsible entity for 
Diversified Utility and Energy Trust No.2 (DUET2) 
and Diversified Utility and Energy Trust No.3 
(DUET3).

Both UIG 1013: Consolidated Financial Reports 
in relation to Pre‑Date‑of‑Transition Stapling 
Arrangements and AASB Interpretation 1002: 
Post‑Date‑of‑Transition Stapling Arrangements 
require one of the stapled entities of a stapled 
structure to be identified as the parent entity for 
the purpose of preparing a consolidated financial 
report. In accordance with this requirement, 
DUET1 has been identified as the parent of the 
consolidated Group comprising DUET1, DUET2, 
DUET3, DIHL and the entities they control, 
together acting as DUET or the DUET Group.

RE1 and RE2 are joint ventures between 
AMP Capital Holdings Limited (AMPCH), 
a wholly‑owned subsidiary of AMP Limited, 
and Macquarie Capital Group Limited (MGL), 
a wholly‑owned subsidiary of Macquarie 
Group Limited.

Principal Activities
The principal activity of DUET1, DUET2, DUET3 
and DIHL is investment in energy utility assets. 
The investment policy of the DUET Group is to 
invest funds in accordance with the provisions 
of the Trust Constitutions and the governing 
documents of the individual entities within the 
DUET Group.

Directors’ names (and period of service)
The following persons held office as directors 
of RE1 during the year and up to the date of 
this report:

Philip Garling (Chairman) –

John Roberts –

The Hon. Michael Lee –

Emma Stein –

Douglas Halley –

Dr Greg Roder (alternate for Philip Garling) –

Stephen Mentzines   –
(alternate for John Roberts – resigned 
28 February 2008)

Shemara Wikramanayake   –
(alternate for John Roberts – appointed 
28 February 2008, resigned 18 July 2008)

Gregory Osborne   –
(alternate for John Roberts – appointed 
18 July 2008)

The following persons held office as directors 
of RE2 during the year and up to the date of 
this report:

Philip Garling (Chairman) –

John Roberts –

Ron Finlay –

Eric Goodwin –

Duncan Sutherland –

Dr Greg Roder (alternate for Philip Garling) –

Stephen Mentzines   –
(alternate for John Roberts, resigned 
28 February 2008)

Shemara Wikramanayake   –
(alternate for John Roberts – appointed 
28 February 2008, resigned 18 July 2008)

Gregory Osborne   –
(alternate for John Roberts – appointed 
18 July 2008)

The following persons held office as directors 
of DIHL during the year and up to the date of 
this report:

Philip Garling (Chairman) –

John Roberts –

Ron Finlay –

Douglas Halley –

Emma Stein –

Dr Greg Roder (alternate for Philip Garling) –

Stephen Mentzines   –
(alternate for John Roberts; resigned 
28 February 2008)

Shemara Wikramanayake   –
(alternate for John Roberts – appointed 
28 February 2008, resigned 18 July 2008)

Gregory Osborne   –
(alternate for John Roberts – appointed 
18 July 2008)
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Distributions and Dividends
The distribution for the year ended 30 June 2008 
was 27.00 cents per stapled security (2007: 24.75 
cents per stapled security).

An interim distribution for the year ended 30 June 
2008 of 13.50 cents per stapled security was 
paid on 15 February 2008 (2007: 12.25 cents per 
stapled security). This consisted of 4.55 cents 
per unit from DUET1 (2007: 6.125 cents per unit), 
6.35 cents per unit from DUET2 (2007: 6.125 
cents per unit) and 2.60 cents per unit from 
DUET3 (2007: nil).

A final distribution of 13.50 cents per stapled 
security was paid on 15 August 2008 (2007: 
12.50 cents per stapled security). This consisted 
of 5.01 cents per unit from DUET1 (2007: 6.250 
cents per unit), 5.99 cents per unit from DUET2 
(2007: 6.250 cents per unit) and 2.50 cents per 
unit from DUET3 (2007: nil).

Review and Results of Operations
The performance of the DUET Group and entities 
comprising DUET for the year ended 30 June 
2008 was as follows:

 DUET Group DUET Group 
 1 July 2007 –  1 July 2006 – 
 30 June 2008 30 June 2007 
 $’000 $’000

Revenue and  
other income  
from continuing  
operations 971,828 902,987
Profit after  
income tax  
expense and  
before finance  
costs attributable  
to minority interest 74,581 34,857
Profit 74,581 38,775
Profit  
attributable to  
security holders 51,838 27,198
Basic earnings  
per stapled  
security/unit/share 3.05c 3.61c
Diluted earnings  
per stapled  
security/unit/share 3.05c 3.61c
Proportionate earnings  
per stapled security  
(pre corporate expenses) 37.3c 29.6c

Dampier Bunbury Pipeline –
During the year under review, DBP transmitted 
a volume of 295 PJ (2007: 278 PJ).

The expansion program of the Dampier Bunbury 
Natural Gas Pipeline (DBNGP) continued to be 
a major focus during the year under review and 
underpinned increases in revenue and earnings. 
With the substantial completion of the Stage 5A 
expansion project in April 2008, DBP has seen 
revenue and EBITDA growth of approximately 
22% and 27% respectively in the 12 months to 
30 June 2008.

Since DUET acquired its 60% interest in DBP 
in October 2004, two substantial capacity 
expansions have been completed. In December 
2006 the $433 million Stage 4 expansion project 
was completed on time and on budget and in 
April 2008 the $660 million Stage 5A expansion 
project was substantially completed on time 
and on budget. DBP has also announced the 
$700 million Stage 5B expansion project. When 
completed, the DBNGP will be approximately 
80% duplicated over its entire length and over 
90% duplicated between Dampier and Perth.

DBP has executed debt and equity agreements, 
shipper contracts and placed the pipe order for 
the Stage 5B expansion project.

United Energy –
During the year under review, United Energy 
distributed 7,924 GWh (2007: 7,881 GWh) of 
electricity. United Energy performed solidly 
this year as a result of the continued increase 
in demand for electricity, achieving revenue 
and EBITDA growth over the 12 months to 
30 June 2008 of 3% and 1% respectively. 
Solid performances over the last three years 
have enabled United Energy to pay two special 
distributions, totalling approximately $16.5 million 
(to DUET) during the 12 months to 30 June 2008. 
United Energy continues to progress the 
potential smart meter project in Victoria. 
This project will involve replacing over 700,000 
meters, deploying a new communications 
network, installing new supporting IT systems 
and redesigning business processes to 
accommodate the new meters. The project aims 
to complete the installation program over the 
next three to four years with a final investment 
decision yet to be made by United Energy. 
United Energy has a regulatory obligation to 
disclose related party transactions and the costs 
incurred by related parties in delivering services 
to it in 2007. The regulatory accounts submitted 
for 2007 were qualified on the basis that costs 
were not supplied in relation to all disclosed 
related party transactions.
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Multinet –
During the year under review, Multinet distributed 
58.3 PJ (2007: 57.3 PJ) of gas. Multinet has 
a regulatory obligation to disclose related 
party transactions and the costs incurred by 
related parties in delivering services to it in 
2004, 2005, 2006 and 2007. The regulatory 
accounts submitted for these years have been 
qualified on the basis that costs have not been 
supplied in relation to all disclosed related party 
transactions.

Multinet has continued to perform in line with 
expectations. During March 2008, Victoria’s 
Essential Services Commission (ESC) delivered 
its final regulatory determination for Multinet for 
the period 1 July 2008 to 31 December 2012. 
The decision provides regulatory certainty 
for Multinet until 2012. Multinet is appealing 
certain aspects of the final decision. This is the 
last decision to be handed down by the ESC, 
with subsequent decisions falling under the 
jurisdiction of the national Australian Energy 
Regulator (AER). The formation of the AER is 
expected by industry participants to lead to 
greater consistency and predictability in future 
regulatory decisions, replacing a number of 
state‑based regulatory bodies. Multinet has 
been an active participant in the Victorian State 
Government’s natural gas extension program 
through two important expansion projects. 
The Yarra Ranges expansion project is now 
complete and the South Gippsland expansion 
project is expected to be completed in the 2009 
financial year.

Alinta Gas Networks –
Continued population growth in and around 
Perth has underpinned the expansion of AGN’s 
gas distribution network. The Western Australian 
economy continues to grow above the national 
average. AGN’s connections increased by 3.3% 
during the 12 months to 30 June 2008. Over 
the same period, AGN experienced revenue 
and EBITDA growth of approximately 6% and 
9% respectively.

Duquesne Light –
Duquesne Light continues to perform in line 
with DUET’s expectations and, after receiving 
final approval for its transmission rate case 
in February 2008, has seen revenue and 
EBITDA growth of approximately 24% and 33% 
respectively in the six months to 30 June 2008.

The US Federal Energy Regulatory Commission 
(FERC) is currently providing attractive incentives 
for investment in transmission infrastructure 
through the regulated tariff structure both 
within Duquesne Light’s distribution area and 
potentially between states. Duquesne Light is 

strategically located between the generation‑rich 
states of Ohio, Indiana and Kentucky and the 
high electricity usage states of New York and 
District of Columbia which provide significant 
opportunities to Duquesne Light for further 
growth.

Significant Changes in State of Affairs
Placement and Entitlement Offer –
On the 16 July 2007, DUET completed a 
Placement and Entitlement Offer of 100 million 
securities at $3.50 per security. The proceeds of 
the equity raising were used to repay the bridge 
loan that funded DUET’s investment in Duquesne 
Light.

Redemption of POWERS –
On 10 June 2008, DUET announced its intention 
to instruct POWERS Trust to redeem and cancel 
the Preferred to Ordinary with Exchange and 
Reset Securities (POWERS), DUET’s hybrid 
funding instrument, on 1 September 2008. 
DUET achieved contract close on 18 June 2008 
for a $685 million total corporate senior debt 
facility. This facility comprises a $585 million 
facility of which approximately 55% has a term 
of three years and 45% a term of five years and 
a $100 million standby working capital three‑year 
facility. The debt facility will be mostly applied by 
DUET to redeem POWERS.

Events Occurring After Balance Sheet Date
Final distribution paid –
A final distribution of 13.50 cents per stapled 
security was paid by DUET on 15 August 2008. 
This consists of a distribution of 5.01 cents per 
unit from DUET1, 5.99 cents per unit from DUET2 
and 2.50 cents per unit from DUET3.

Performance fee reinvested in DUET  –
Group securities
On 8 July 2008, RE1 and RE2 elected to apply 
the performance fee of $54.2 million earned by 
them for the six month period to 30 June 2008 
to subscribe for DUET Group securities. The 
securities were issued in the name of entities 
nominated by the shareholders of RE1 and 
RE2. Pursuant to the DUET Trust Constitutions 
and DIHL Management Services Agreement, 
17,021,662 new stapled securities were issued at 
a price of $3.1835 per stapled security, being the 
weighted average trading price (VWAP) of DUET 
Group securities during the last 20 trading days 
of the six‑month period to 30 June 2008.

DUET Group securities issued under DRP –
Security holders participating in DUET’s 
Distribution and Dividend Reinvestment Plan 
(DRP) reinvested $18,885,523 of the distribution 
paid on 15 August 2008 in 6,583,015 DUET 
Group securities at a price of $2.87.
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US$300 million cross‑currency interest rate  –
swap executed
In August 2008, DUET Group executed a 
US$300 million cross‑currency interest rate 
swap with certain members of its banking 
syndicate. The swap is effective from 29 August 
2008 and will be used to hedge the DUET 
Group’s US dollar‑denominated investment 
in Duquesne Light.

No other circumstance have arisen since the end 
of the year that has significantly affected, or may 
significantly affect, the operations of the DUET 
Group, the results of those operations in future 
financial years, or the state of affairs of the DUET 
Group in years subsequent to the year ended 
30 June 2008.

Likely Developments and Expected Results 
of Operations
In July 2008, the Carbon Pollution Reduction 
Scheme Green‑paper was released. The paper 
proposes the introduction of a cap and trade 
emissions trading scheme with the objective of 
meeting Australia’s emissions reduction targets 
in the most flexible and cost effective way. 
It would appear that some of DUET’s assets 
may incur obligations under the scheme for 
emissions permits. DUET is currently reviewing 
the proposed scheme to confirm that all costs 
incurred can be passed through to consumers, 
as per the general intent of the scheme.

Further information on likely developments 
relating to the operations of DUET1, DUET2, 
DUET3 (together, the Trusts) and DIHL 
(Company) in future years and the expected 
results of those operations has not been 
included in this report because the Directors 
believe it would be likely to result in unreasonable 
prejudice to the Trusts and Company of the 
DUET Group.

Indemnification and Insurance of Officers 
and Auditors
During the year, RE1, RE2 and the Company paid 
a premium to insure their respective officers. 
As long as these officers act in accordance with 
the Constitution and the law, the officers remain 
indemnified out of the assets of the Trusts and 

Company of the DUET Group against any losses 
incurred while acting on behalf of the Trusts, 
Company and the DUET Group. The auditors 
of the DUET Group are in no way indemnified 
out of the assets of the Trust, Company or the 
DUET Group.

Fees Paid to RE1 and RE2 and their 
Associates
Fees paid to RE1 and RE2 and their associates 
out of DUET1, DUET2, DUET3, DIHL and the 
DUET Group’s property are disclosed in Note 30 
in the full Financial Statements.

Interests in the Trusts of the DUET Group 
Issued During the Financial Year
The movement during the year in securities on 
issue of the DUET Group is set out below:

 DUET Group DUET Group 
 30 June 2008 30 June 2007 
 $’000 $’000

Securities on issue  
at the beginning  
of the year 568,328 426,569
Securities issued  
during the year 41,131 141,759
Securities on issue  
at the end of the year 609,459 568,328
 DUET Group DUET Group 
 30 June 2008 30 June 2007 
Value of Assets $’000 $’000

Value of assets  
at 30 June 7,608,770 7,111,633

The value of the DUET Group, DUET1, DUET2, 
DUET3 and DIHL assets is derived using the 
basis set out in Note 1 to the full Financial 
Statements.

Directors’ Holdings of Stapled Securities
The aggregate number of DUET Group stapled 
securities and POWERS units held directly, 
indirectly or beneficially by directors at the date 
of this financial report are:
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 DUET Group   DUET Group 
 stapled  POWERS stapled POWERS 
 securities securities securities securities 
 2008 2008 2007 2007

Director
Philip Garling 62,715 1,800 62,715 1,800
John Roberts 1,813,521 – 1,654,119 –
The Hon Michael Lee 5,481 – – –
Emma Stein 32,960 – 32,960 –
Douglas Halley 54,208 – 34,208 –
Dr Greg Roder – – – –
Ron Finlay 12,462 – 12,462 –
Eric Goodwin 27,418 – 25,008 –
Duncan Sutherland 80,000 – 80,000
Gregory Osborne – – – –

Refer to Note 30 to the full Financial Statements 
for further details.

Certain employees of MGL and AMPCH 
associated with the management of DUET hold 
stapled securities in the DUET Group at the date 
of this report.

RE1’s and RE2’s Holdings of Stapled 
Securities
Neither RE1 nor RE2 hold any stapled securities 
in the DUET Group at the date of this financial 
report (30 June 2007: Nil).

Environmental Regulations
DUET1, DUET2, DUET3 and DIHL are not subject 
to any environmental regulations.

Dampier Bunbury Pipeline –
Both the DBP Licence and DBP Access Licence 
place requirements on DBP as operator of the 
DBNGP. Environmental obligations are identified 
and managed through DBP’s Environmental 
Management Plan, which sets out procedures 
for necessary restoration work associated with 
operations and construction.

The directors are not aware of any material 
breaches to the environmental regulations 
discussed above.

United Energy –
United Energy is subject to significant 
environmental regulation under the 
Environmental Protection Act (EPA) 1970 
(Vic). United Energy adheres to environmental 
management principles using compliance with 
ISO 14001 for proactive planning, sustainable 
development and self assessment for continuous 
improvement. United Energy did not receive 
any notices from the EPA for violation of the Act 
during the year.

Multinet –
Multinet is subject to significant environmental 
regulation under the Environmental Protection 
Act 1970 (Vic). Multinet adheres to environmental 
management principles using compliance with 
ISO 14001 for proactive planning, sustainable 
development and self assessment for continuous 
improvement. Multinet did not receive any 
notices from the Environmental Protection 
Agency for violation of the act from 2004 to the 
date of signing this report.
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration
A copy of the Auditor’s Independence 
Declaration as required under section 307C of 
the Corporations Act 2001 is set out on page 49.

Rounding of Amounts in the Directors’ 
Report and the Financial Report
DUET1 is of a kind referred to in Class Order 
98/0100, issued by ASIC, relating to the 
‘rounding off’ of amounts in the directors’ report 
and financial report. Amounts in the directors’ 
report and financial report have been rounded 
off in accordance with that Class Order to the 
nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, 
to the nearest dollar.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of 
directors of AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure 
Management No.1 Limited.

Philip Garling 
Director

AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure Management 
No.1 Limited

Sydney  
28 August 2008 

John Roberts  
Director

AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure Management 
No.1 Limited

Sydney 
28 August 2008
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration

Auditor’s Independence Declaration to the Directors of the Responsible Entities  
of Diversified Utility and Energy Trust No.1 

In relation to our audit of the concise financial report of Diversified Utility and Energy Trust No.1 for the 
year ended 30 June 2008, to the best of our knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions 
of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 or any applicable code of 
professional conduct.

Ernst & Young

Michael S Perry
Partner
Melbourne
28 August 2008

Liability limited by a scheme approved under  
Professional Standards Legislation
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Consolidated Income Statements

  DUET Group DUET Group 
  1 July 2007 1 July 2006 
  – 30 June 2008 – 30 June 2007 
 Note $’000 $’000

Revenue from continuing operations 3 957,118 861,292
Other Income 3 14,710 41,695
Total Revenue and other income from  
continuing operations  971,828 902,987
Share of net profit/(loss) of associates  
accounted for using the equity method  40,158 (1,880)
Operating expenses 3 (291,873) (274,926)
Depreciation and amortisation expense 3 (159,633) (144,065)
Finance costs excluding cost attributable  
to minority interests 3 (348,517) (306,813)
Other expenses 3 (124,956) (92,162)
Total expenses from continuing operations  (924,979) (817,966)
Profit before income tax expense and  
finance costs attributable to minority interests  87,007 83,141
Income tax expense  (12,426) (48,284)
Profit after income tax expense and before  
finance costs attributable to minority interests  74,581 34,857
Finance costs attributable to minority interests  – 3,918
Profit for the year  74,581 38,775
Profit is attributable to:
DUET1 and DUET2 unitholders  18,418 17,796
DIHL shareholders and DUET3 unitholders  
as minority interests  33,420 9,402
Stapled Securityholders  51,838 27,198
Other minority interests  22,743 11,577
Basic earnings per stapled security/share/unit 5 3.05c 3.61c
Diluted earnings per stapled security/share/unit 5 3.05c 3.61c

The above Consolidated Income Statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

  DUET Group DUET Group 
  30 June 2008 30 June 2007 
 Note $’000 $’000

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents  305,118 298,738
Receivables  60,764 51,473
Inventories  11,683 11,072
Current tax receivable  850 1,094
Other assets  62,819 55,532
Derivative Financial Instruments  9,315 8,046
Total current assets  450,549 425,955
Non‑current assets
Receivables  289,836 317,157
Investment in associated entities using  
equity accounting method  162,920 167,638
Property, plant and equipment  4,498,556 4,083,909
Deferred tax assets  10,991 11,455
Intangible assets  1,970,587 1,981,095
Other assets  – 1,161
Derivative Financial Instruments  225,331 123,263
Total non‑current assets  7,158,221 6,685,678
Total assets  7,608,770 7,111,633
Current liabilities
Distribution payable  82,277 62,134
Payables  246,384 243,499
Interest bearing liabilities 6 591,272 3,600
Provisions  750 2,718
Derivative Financial Instruments  4,014 5,059
Other  16,202 16,627
Total current liabilities  940,899 333,637

The above Consolidated Balance Sheets should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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  DUET Group DUET Group 
  30 June 2008 30 June 2007 
 Note $’000 $’000

Non‑current liabilities
Interest bearing liabilities 6 4,278,335 4,523,805
Deferred tax liabilities  649,626 613,887
Derivative financial instruments  160,574 133,853
Provisions  17,307 16,175
Retirement benefit obligations  – 1,161
Other liabilities  15,235 –
Total non‑current liabilities  5,121,077 5,288,881
Total liabilities  6,061,976 5,622,518
Net assets  1,546,794 1,489,115
Equity
Equity attributable to DUET1 and DUET2 unitholders
Contributed equity  1,078,434 980,433
Reserves  (61,465) (6,870)
Accumulated losses  (127,749) (104,911)
DUET1 and DUET2 unitholders’ interest  889,220 868,652
Equity attributable to DIHL and DUET3  
securityholders (as minority interest)
Contributed equity  399,619 366,866
Reserves  (52,582) (11,687)
Retained profits  38,503 9,402
DIHL and DUET3 securityholders’ interest  385,540 364,581
Other minority interest  272,034 255,882
Total equity  1,546,794 1,489,115

The above Consolidated Balance Sheets should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statements of Changes 
in Equity

  DUET Group DUET Group 
  1 July 2007 1 July 2006 
  – 30 June 2008 – 30 June 2007 
  $’000 $’000

Total equity at the beginning of the financial year 1,489,115 946,461
Changes in the fair value of cash flow hedges, net of tax 61,046 45,312
Change in foreign currency translation reserve (14,350) (11,687)
Net income recognised directly in equity 46,696 33,625
Profit for the year 74,581 38,775
Total recognised income and expense for the year 121,277 72,400
Transactions equity holders in their capacity as equity holders:
Transfer of net assets attributable to minority interest from  
liability to equity – 119,351
Contributions of equity, net of transaction costs 130,753 425,504
Dividend paid and provided for to DUET equity holders (163,419) (122,598)
Dividends and distributions provided for or paid to minority interests (51,601) (30,707)
Contributions of equity by minority interests 20,669 78,704
Total equity at the end of the financial year 1,546,794 1,489,115
Total recognised income and expenses for the year  
is attributable to: DUET1 and DUET2 unitholders 58,961 46,181
DIHL shareholders and DUET3 unitholders 19,070 (2,285)
DUET securityholders 78,031 43,896
Minority interest 43,246 28,504
  121,277 72,400

The above Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statements

  DUET Group DUET Group 
  1 July 2007 1 July 2006 
  – 30 June 2008 – 30 June 2007 
  $’000 $’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers (including GST) 920,478 918,185
Payments to suppliers and employees (including GST) (401,142) (393,790)
Income tax paid (5,201) (4,826)
Interest received 44,844 20,303
Dividends received 30,703 9,672
Net cash flows from operating activities 589,682 549,544
Cash flows from investing activities
Payments for purchase of property, plant and equipment  
and software (571,925) (513,118)
Payment for purchase of investment – (382,992)
Return of capital from investment – 240,997
Funds lent to associated entities – (239,723)
Proceeds from sale of non‑current assets 141 7,464
Net cash flows from investing activities (571,784) (887,372)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of stapled securities 100,685 415,744
Proceeds from securities issued to minority interests 24,517 78,704
Payments for capital raising costs (6,980) (8,691)
Proceeds from borrowing from external parties 786,700 1,105,863
Repayment of borrowings from external parties (471,500) (820,963)
Borrowings from bridge financing – 200,363
Repayment of bridge financing facility – (200,363)
Loans to related entities (6,600) 3,400
Finance costs paid (276,468) (310,973)
Dividends paid to minority interest (55,452) (30,707)
Distributions paid (106,420) (92,136)
Net cash flows from financing activities (11,518) 340,241
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents held 6,380 2,413
Cash assets at the beginning of the period 298,738 295,999
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents – 326
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 305,118 298,738

The above Consolidated Cash Flow Statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Financial Performance
Operating Performance
The profit before finance costs attributable 
to security holders and minority interests for 
DUET and its consolidated entities for the year 
ended 30 June 2008 is a profit of $74.5 million 
(2007: $34.9 million). The profit after finance 
costs attributable to DUET security holders for 
the year ended 30 June 2008 is $51.8 million 
(2007: $27.2 million).

Revenue (refer Note 3)
The total revenue and other income for the 
year was $971.8 million (2007: $903.0 million), 
comprising the following:

Distribution revenue of $537.6 million  –
(2007: $518.5 million). The increase for the 
current year reflects the increase in revenue 
for UEDH of $8.9 million and for MGH of 
$10.2 million due to increases in tariff rates.

Metering revenue of $26.9 million  –
(2007: $29.1 million).

Transportation revenue of $290.4 million  –
(2007: $237.8 million). The increased revenue 
is due to the commissioning of the Stage 4 
expansion in December 2006, providing 
additional capacity for the DBNGP.

Other sales revenue, attributed primarily to MGH  –
and UED of $20.5 million (2007: $20.9 million).

Other revenue of $56.2 million  –
(2007: $77.4 million). The decrease was 
predominantly related to fair value gains 
on the derivative contracts of $12.5 million 
(2007: $32.9 million).

New connections revenue $1.9 million  –
(2007: $1.8 million)

Revenue from investments $38.3 million  –
(2007: $17.5 million). The increase was 
predominantly related to interest earned 
on the loan to DQE.

Share of net profit of associates
Share of net profit of associates accounted 
for using the equity method for the year 
was $40.2 million (2007: $(1.9) million). 
This represented DUET’s 25.9% share of 
the net profits after tax generated by Alinta 
Network Holdings Pty Limited as well as 
DUET’s 29.0% share of the net profit after 
tax generated by DQE Holdings, LLC.

Total revenue and share of associates’ profits 
was offset by the following operating expenses 
recognised during the year:

Operating Expenses (refer Note 3)
Operating expenses of $291.9 million were 
incurred during the year (2007: $274.9 million) 
and included the following:

Operating fees of $258.2 million  –
(2007: $247.7 million). The increase for the 
current year primarily reflects the increase in 
operating fees at UEDH of $7.5 million, DBP of 
$1.9 million and MGH of $1.1 million.

Other operating expenses of $33.7 million  –
(2007: $27.2 million). The increase for the current 
year primarily reflects the increase at MGH of 
$3.8 million (accelerated mains servicing costs), 
UEDH of $1.5 million and DBP $1.1 million.

Other Expenses (refer Note 3)
Management fees of $19.1 million  –
(2007: $18.3 million).

Performance fees of $55.5 million  –
(2007: $43.6 million). The increase was due to 
the improvement in DUET’s performance against 
its Benchmark Index in accordance with DUET’s 
constitutional documents.

Depreciation and amortisation expense 
(refer Note 3)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  –
was $145.6 million (2007: $120.3 million). This 
consisted of $47.5 million from DBP, $28.5 million 
from MGH and $69.6 million from UEDH. The 
increased charge is due to expansion of the 
underlying asset base.

Amortisation of intellectual property was  –
$14 million (2007: $23.8 million) for the year. 
The prior year was impacted by accelerated 
depreciation of software costs.

Finance costs (refer Note 3)
Finance costs of $348.5 million  –
(2007: $306.8 million) were incurred during the 
year. This includes $5.6 million (2007: $6.6 million) 
of amortisation of borrowing costs. Also included 
was the net cost to redeem the POWERS hybrid 
funding, $28.2 million.

Income Tax
Under the Income Tax Assessment Acts, DUET1,  –
DUET2 and DUET3 are not liable for income 
tax provided that the taxable income is fully 
distributed to stapled securityholders each year. 
DIHL recognised withholding tax of $0.5 million 
on income received from its US investments.

Income tax expense of $12.4 million  –
(2007: $48.3 million) was recognised 
during the year. The prior year comparative 
was impacted by adjustments relating to 
pre‑acquisition tax losses.

Discussion and Analysis of Results
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Discussion and Analysis of Results continued

Minority Interests
Minority interests of $22.7 million represent the  –
net results of DBP, UEDH and MGH attributable 
to minority interests (2007: $11.6 million).

Earnings per Stapled Security
The basic earnings per stapled security after  –
finance costs were 3.05 cents per stapled 
security (2007: 3.61 cents per stapled security).

The weighted average number of shares on  –
issue used in the calculation of the earnings 
per stapled security was 603.5 million 
(2007: 492.4 million).

Financial Position
Assets
At 30 June 2008, total assets of DUET were  –
$7,608.8 million (2007: $7,111.6 million).

Property, plant and equipment of $4,498.6 million  –
(2007: $4,083.9 million) included $5.5 million of 
land (2007: $5.5 million), $5.8 million of buildings 
(2007: $6.1 million), $3,751.7 million of plant and 
equipment (2007: $3,715.3 million), $9.0 million 
of other property, plant and equipment 
(2007: $11.4 million) and $726.6 million of plant 
and equipment in the course of construction 
(2007: $345.6 million). The increased property, 
plant and equipment at 30 June 2008 compared 
to 30 June 2007 primarily reflect fixed assets 
constructed as part of the DBP Stage 5 
expansion projects.

Intangible assets of $1,970.6 million  –
(2007: $1,981.1 million), comprised of 
$95.5 million of intellectual property 
(2007: $102.0 million), $1,035.4 million of 
distribution licences (2007: $1,035.4 million), 
$813.1 million of goodwill (2007: $825.0 million), 
and $26.6 million of information system software 
(2007: $18.7 million). The decrease in intangibles 
was the result of amortisation.

Liabilities
At 30 June 2008, total liabilities of DUET were  –
$6,061.9 million (2007: $5,622.5 million).

The increase in liabilities was mainly due  –
to increases in deferred tax liabilities of 
$35.7 million, hedge payables of $26.7 million, 
and interest bearing financial liabilities of 
$342.2 million (refer to Note 18 in the full 
Financial Statements).

Equity
At 30 June 2008, total equity of DUET was  –
$1,546.8 million (2007: $1,489.1 million).

$272.0 million represents the net assets of DBP,  –
UEDH and MGH attributable to outside equity 
interests (2007: $255.9 million).

Contributed equity is $1,478.1 million  –
(2007: $1,347.3 million). The increase is due 
to a capital raising that took place during the 
year that was used to fund DUET’s increased 
ownership interest in Duquesne Light and 
to expand the DBNGP pipeline as well as 
additional stapled units issued as part of DUET’s 
distribution reinvestment plan.

Reserves are $(114.0) million  –
(2007: $(18.6) million). These represent cash flow 
hedges measured in accordance with IFRS, 
capital reserves for distributions greater than 
trust retained earnings, and foreign currency 
translation reserves for translation of assets held 
in US dollars.

Net Tangible Asset Backing
The net asset backing per stapled unit at 30 June  –
2008 is $2.54 (2007: $2.62).

Statement of Cash Flows
Net cash flows from operating activities
Cash inflows from operating activities increased  –
$40.1 million from $549.5 million in the prior year 
to $589.6 million in the current year.

Net cash flows from investing activities
Cash outflows from investing activities  –
decreased $315.6 million from $887.4 million in 
the prior year to $571.8 million in the current year.

The decrease is largely due to the payment in the  –
prior year for the investment in DQE Holdings, 
LLC in the US.

Net cash flows from financing activities
Net cash flows from financing activities  –
decreased $371.5 million from cash inflows of 
$340.2 million in the prior year to cash outflows 
of $(11.5) million in the current year.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Note 1. Summary of Significant 
Accounting Policies

The significant accounting policies which 
have been adopted in the preparation of the 
financial report are stated to assist in a general 
understanding of this concise financial report.

This financial report has been prepared 
in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards and the Corporations Act 2001.

The financial report was authorised for issue 
by the directors on 28 August 2008. The 
Responsible Entities and the directors of DIHL 
have the power to amend and reissue the 
financial report.

(a) Basis of preparation of financial report
The principal accounting policies adopted in the 
preparation of the financial report are set out 
below. These policies have been consistently 
applied to all the periods presented, unless 
otherwise stated.

Compliance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS)
Compliance with Australian Accounting 
Standards ensures that the financial report 
and notes of the DUET Group comply with 
International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”) as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). 
Consequently this financial report has also been 
prepared in accordance with and complies with 
IFRS as issued by the IASB.

Historical cost convention
These Financial Statements have been prepared 
under the historical cost convention, as modified 
by the revaluation of certain financial assets and 
liabilities (including derivative instruments) at fair 
value through profit and loss.

Stapled security
The units of DUET1, DUET2, DUET3 and the 
ordinary shares in DIHL are combined and 
issued as stapled securities in the DUET Group. 
The individual securities cannot be traded 
separately and can only be traded as stapled 
securities.

This financial report consists of the consolidated 
financial statements of DUET1, which comprises 
DUET1, DUET2, DUET3, DIHL and the entities 
they control, together acting as DUET.

As permitted by ASIC Class Order 06/441, this 
financial report consists of the consolidated 
financial statements of DUET1 and its controlled 
entities (collectively referred to as “DUET” or 
“the DUET Group”), the financial statements of 
DUET1, DUET2, DUET3 and DIHL.

(b) Consolidated accounts
UIG 1013: Consolidated Financial Reports 
in relation to Pre‑Date‑of‑Transition Stapling 
Arrangements requires one of the stapled entities 
of an existing stapled structure to be identified 
as the parent entity for the purpose of preparing 
consolidated financial reports. In accordance 
with this requirement, DUET1 was identified 
as the parent of the consolidated Group on 
transition to AIFRS. At 30 June 2008, the 
Consolidated Group comprises DUET1, DUET2, 
DUET3, DIHL and the entities they control.

On 31 August 2006, DIHL became the third 
stapled entity to DUET1 and DUET2. AASB 
Interpretation 1002 Post Date of Transition 
Stapling Arrangements requires that DIHL is 
deemed to be acquired by DUET1. Accordingly, 
the stapled entities of DUET Group are 
represented as the consolidated financial 
statements of DUET1, however, in accordance 
with the AASB Interpretation, the interest in 
DIHL is shown as a minority interest in both the 
Income Statement and Balance Sheet.

On 22 June 2007, DUET3 became the fourth 
stapled entity to DUET1, DUET2 and DIHL. 
AASB Interpretation 1002 Post date of Transition 
Stapling Arrangements required that DUET3 is 
deemed to be acquired by DUET1. Accordingly, 
the stapled entities of the DUET Group are 
represented as the consolidated financial 
statements of DUET1, however in accordance 
with AASB Interpretation1002, the interest in 
DUET3 is shown as a minority interest in both the 
Income Statement and Balance Sheet.

DUET2, DUET3 and DIHL are therefore treated 
differently on consolidation with the equity 
of DUET2 attributable to the parent (DUET1) 
whereas the equity of DIHL and DUET3 are 
attributable to minority interests.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued

Note 1. Summary of Significant 
Accounting Policies continued

(c) Principles of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements 
incorporate the assets and liabilities of the 
entities controlled by DUET1, DUET2, DUET3 
and DIHL at 30 June 2008, including those 
deemed to be controlled by DUET1 by identifying 
it as the parent of DUET on transition to AIFRS, 
and the results of those controlled entities for the 
period then ended. The effects of all transactions 
between entities in the consolidated entity are 
eliminated in full. Minority interests in the results 
and equity are shown separately in the Income 
Statement and the Balance Sheet respectively. 
Minority interests are those interests in partly 
owned subsidiaries which are not held directly 
or indirectly by DUET1, DUET2, DUET3 or DIHL. 
Minority interest also represents the interests of 
DUET3 and DIHL.

Where control of an entity is obtained during 
a financial period, its results are included in 
the Income Statement from the date on which 
control commences. Where control of an entity 
ceases during a financial period, its results are 
included for that part of the period during which 
control existed.

(d) Segment reporting
A business segment is a group of assets and 
operations engaged in providing products or 
services that are subject to risks and returns 
that are different to those of other business 
segments. A geographical segment is engaged 
in providing products or services within a 
particular economic environment and is subject 
to risks and returns that are different from 
those of segments operating in other economic 
environments.

(e) Earnings per stapled security
(i) Basic earnings per security
Basic earnings per stapled security is 
determined by dividing the profit attributable 
to security holders of the Group, excluding any 
costs of servicing equity other than ordinary 
securities, by the weighted average number of 
ordinary securities on issue during the year.

(ii) Diluted earnings per security
Diluted earnings per stapled security adjusts 
the figures used in the determination of basic 
earning per security to take into account the after 
income tax effect of interest and other financing 
costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary 
securities and the weighted average number 
of securities assumed to have been issued for 
no consideration in relation to dilutive potential 
ordinary securities.

(f) Unitholders’ funds
The Trust constitutions of both DUET1 and 
DUET2 were amended on 30 June 2006 
such that the finite life clauses were removed 
and distributions were no longer mandatory 
but discretionary. Accordingly, the units in 
DUET1 and DUET2 are classified as equity for 
accounting purposes from 30 June 2006.

(g) Comparative figures
Where necessary, comparative figures have 
been adjusted to conform with changes in the 
presentation in the current period.

(h) Rounding of amounts
The DUET Group, DUET1, DUET2, DUET3 
and DIHL are of a kind referred to in Class 
Order 98/0100, issued by ASIC, relating to the 
‘rounding off’ of amounts in the directors’ report 
and financial report. Amounts in the directors’ 
report and financial report have been rounded 
off in accordance with that Class Order to the 
nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, 
to the nearest dollar.

Note 2. Segment Information

Segment products and locations –
The consolidated entity’s operating companies 
are organised and managed separately according 
to the nature of the products and services they 
provide, with each segment offering different 
products and serving different markets. The gas 
distribution segment operates in Victoria and 
Western Australia and the electricity distribution 
segment operates in Victoria.

Geographic segment –
The consolidated entity operates predominantly 
in one geographical segment being Australia. 
Accordingly, no geographical segment 
information is presented.

Segment accounting policies –
The Group generally accounts for inter segment 
sales and transfers as if the sales or transfers 
were to third parties at current market prices.

The principal activity of the DUET Group, 
DUET1, DUET2, DUET3 and DIHL is investment 
in energy utility assets. The primary basis of 
segment reporting is business. At the date of 
this report DUET has investments in the gas 
distribution, gas transmission and electricity 
distribution segments.

The principal activity of DUET3 during the 
year was loan investment in DQE Holdings LLC. 
The principal activity of DIHL during the year 
was investment in DQE Holdings LLC.
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  Gas  Gas Electricity Eliminations/ 
  Transmission Distribution Distribution Unallocated Consolidated 
2008 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Business Segments
Revenue
Sales to external customers 299,747 170,062 424,706 9,599 904,114
Other revenues from external  
customers 3,986 1,128 6,936 – 12,050
Share of net profit/(loss) of equity  
accounted investments – 4,706 – 35,452 40,158
Total segment revenue 303,733 175,896 431,642 45,051 956,322
Non‑segment revenues
Interest revenue     55,664
Unallocated revenue     –
Total DUET Group revenue     1,011,986
Results
Segment result1 187,816 86,073 175,086 (13,451) 435,524
Non‑segment expenses
Finance costs excluding costs  
attributable to securityholders     (348,517)
Unallocated expenses     –
Net profit from continuing  
activities before income tax  
expense and finance costs  
attributable to securityholders  
and minority interests     87,007
Income tax expense     (12,426)
Net profit from continuing  
activities after income tax  
expense and before finance  
costs attributable to  
securityholders and  
minority interests    74,581
Assets
Segment assets 3,395,050 1,336,700 2,179,020 698,000 7,608,770
Liabilities
Segment liabilities (531,189) (146,979) (379,173) (726,300) (1,783,641)
Non‑segment liabilities
 Interest bearing liabilities     (4,278,335)
Total liabilities excluding minority  
interest classified as debt     (6,061,976)
Other segment information
Acquisition of property, plant and  
equipment, intangible assets and  
other non‑current assets 109,939 419,985 53,920 – 583,844
Depreciation 47,509 28,517 69,815 (242) 145,599
Amortisation 571 2,664 10,799 – 14,034
Equity investment in  
segment assets – 27,861 – 135,059 162,920

1 Segment results refer to earnings before finance costs and tax expense.
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Note 2. Segment Information continued

  Gas  Gas Electricity Eliminations/ 
  Transmission Distribution Distribution Unallocated Consolidated 
2007 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Business Segments
Revenue
Sales to external customers 247,101 160,593 412,942 42,000 862,636
Other revenues from external  
customers 1,253 5,495 4,859 – 11,607
Share of net profit/(loss) of  
equity accounted investments – 4,301 – (6,181) (1,880)
Total segment revenue 248,354 170,389 417,801 35,819 872,363
Non‑segment revenues
Interest revenue     19,825
Unallocated revenue     8,919
Total DUET Group revenue     901,107
Results
Segment result1 143,697 81,265 185,900 (20,908) 389,954
Non‑segment expenses
Finance costs excluding costs  
attributable to securityholders     (306,813)
Unallocated expenses     –
Net profit from continuing activities  
before income tax expense and  
finance costs attributable to  
securityholders and minority interests     83,141
Income tax expense     (48,284)
Net profit from continuing activities  
after income tax expense and  
before finance costs attributable to  
securityholders and minority interests     34,857
Assets
Segment assets 2,986,305 1,302,306 2,153,386 669,636 7,111,633
Liabilities
Segment liabilities (538,044) (119,664) (319,463) (121,542) (1,098,713)
Non‑segment liabilities
Interest bearing liabilities     (4,523,805)
Total liabilities excluding minority  
interest classified as debt     (5,622,518)
Other segment information
Acquisition of property, plant and  
equipment, intangible assets and  
other non‑current assets 331,856 62,006 123,726 – 517,588
Depreciation 39,468 25,216 55,576 – 120,260
Amortisation 668 8,331 14,808 – 23,807
Equity investment in segment assets – 27,759 – 139,879 167,638

1 Segment results refer to earnings before finance costs and tax expense.
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Note 3. Profit for the Year

 DUET Group DUET Group 
 1 July 2007 1 July 2006 
 – 30 June 2008 – 30 June 2007 
 $’000 $’000

(i) Revenue from continuing operations
Sales revenue
Distribution revenue 537,611 518,480
Metering revenue 26,867 29,073
Transportation revenue 290,411 237,751
New connections revenue 1,946 1,886
Other sales revenue 20,464 20,889
  877,299 808,079
Revenue from investments
Interest revenue 38,376 8,560
Distribution and dividend revenue – 8,919
  38,376 17,479
Other revenue
Interest revenue 17,288 11,264
Customer contributions 17,215 18,053
Miscellaneous revenue 6,940 6,417
 41,443 35,734
Total revenue from continuing operations 957,118 861,292

(ii) Other income
Fair value gain on Derivative Contracts 12,450 41,695
Foreign exchange gains 2,260 –
Total Other income 14,710 41,695
Total Revenue and other income from continuing operations 971,828 902,987
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Note 3. Profit for the Year continued

 DUET Group DUET Group 
 1 July 2007 1 July 2006 
 – 30 June 2008 – 30 June 2007 
 $’000 $’000

(iii) Expenses from continuing operations
Operating expenses
Operating fees 258,179 247,722
Other operating expenses 33,694 27,204
  291,873 274,926
Other expenses
Net loss on write off/abandonment 8,011 7,142
Management fees 19,188 18,323
Performance fees 55,543 43,649
Foreign exchange losses 26,430 19,586
Other 3,863 3,462
Write off of goodwill on recognition of pre‑acquisition tax losses 11,921 –
  124,956 92,162
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 145,599 120,260
Amortisation of intangible assets 14,034 23,805
  159,633 144,065
Finance costs excluding costs attributable to security holders  
and minority interests
Amortisation of borrowing costs 5,585 6,658
Financing costs1 28,523 4,077
Interest expense
 Related parties 17,107 16,536
 Other parties 297,302 279,542
 348,517 306,813
Total expenses from continuing operations 924,979 817,966

1 Includes the premium payable to POWERS security holders on redemption (1 September 2008).

Note 4. Distributions Paid and Proposed

The distributions were paid/proposed as follows:

 DUET Group DUET Group 
 1 July 2007 1 July 2006 
 – 30 June 2008 – 30 June 2007 
 $’000 $’000

Interim distribution paid for year ended 30 June 2008: DUET  
13.50 cents per stapled unit (2007: DUET 12.25 cents per stapled unit) 81,142 60,464
Final distribution proposed and subsequently paid for the year ended  
30 June 2008: DUET 13.50 cents per stapled unit (2007: DUET  
12.50 cents per stapled unit) 82,277 62,134
 163,419 122,598
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Note 5. Earnings per Security

 DUET Group DUET Group 
 As at As at 
(a) Basic earnings per stapled security 30 June 2008 30 June 2007

Basic earnings per stapled security 3.05c 3.61c
Earnings used in calculation of basic earnings  
per stapled security $18,417,544 $17,796,178
Weighted average number of stapled securities  
used in calculating basic earnings per stapled security 603,539,926 492,401,458

On 16 July 2007, DUET Group completed the final allotment of 28,767,005 units under the Institutional 
Placement and Rights Issue at $3.50 per unit.

 DUET Group DUET Group 
(b) Reconciliation of earnings used in calculating As at As at 
basic earnings per stapled security 30 June 2008 30 June 2007

Basic earnings per stapled security
Profit from continuing operations 74,581 38,775
Profit from continuing operations attributable  
to minority interests (56,163) (20,979)
Profit attributable to the ordinary securityholders  
used in calculating basic earnings per stapled security 18,418 17,796

 DUET Group DUET Group 
 As at As at 
(c) Diluted earnings per stapled security 30 June 2008 30 June 2007

Diluted earnings per stapled security2 3.05c 3.61c
Earnings used in calculation of diluted earnings  
per stapled security $18,417,544 $17,796,178
Weighted average number of stapled securities  
used in calculating diluted earnings per stapled security 603,539,926 492,401,458

2  Where diluted earnings per stapled security is anti‑dilutive, the figure for diluted earnings per stapled security is shown the same as the 
figure for basic earnings per stapled security.

 DUET Group DUET Group 
(d) Weighted average number of shares As at As at 
used as the denominator 30 June 2008 30 June 2007

Weighted average number of stapled securities  
used as the denominator in calculating basic  
earnings per stapled security 603,539,926 492,401,458
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Note 6. Interest Bearing Liabilities

 DUET Group DUET Group 
 30 June 2008 30 June 2007 
 $’000 $’000

Current
Unsecured
Bank loans 27,000 3,600
Preferred to Ordinary with Exchange and Reset Securities (POWERS)1 568,371 –
  595,371 3,600
Capitalised borrowing costs (4,099) –
Total current interest bearing liabilities 591,272 3,600
Non‑current
Secured
Bank loans 939,926 631,835
Guaranteed notes 1,200,000 1,200,000
  2,139,926 1,831,835
Unsecured
Bank loans 389,500 382,226
Guaranteed notes 1,660,300 1,690,535
Redeemable preference shares 120,396 120,396
Preferred to Ordinary with Exchange and Reset Securities (POWERS) – 543,263
Shareholder loans 6,800 3,400
Other – 226
  2,176,996 2,740,046
Capitalised borrowing costs (38,587) (48,076)
Total non‑current interest bearing liabilities 4,278,335 4,523,805
Total interest bearing liabilities 4,869,607 4,527,405

1 POWERS are to be redeemed on 1 September 2008.
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Financing Arrangements –
At balance date the Group had access to the following lines of credit:

 Undrawn balance Undrawn balance 
 30 June 2008 30 June 2007 
 ’000 ’000

DUET1 
Related party loans 37,147 37,147
DUET2 
Related party loans – –
DUET3 
Related party loans 18,711 3,711
DIHL 
Related party loans 200,000 187,869
DUET 2008 Funding Sub Trust 
Tranche A 3 year: 2011 317,300 –
Tranche B 5 year: 2013 267,700 –
Tranche C 3 year: 2011 100,000 –
Total 685,000 –

Dampier Bunbury Pipeline
Senior debt
 2005 7 year floating rate notes – –
 2005 12 year floating rate notes – –
 2006 7 year floating rate notes – –
 2006 12 year floating rate notes – –
 Syndicated facility – 45,000
 Capital expenditure facility (Stage 4) 20 20
 Capital expenditure facility (Stage 5A) 47,525 440,245
 Capital expenditure facility (Stage 5A2) – –
 Working capital facility 20,000 25,000
  67,545 510,265
United Energy
Senior Corporate Facility – Tranche A 96,000 76,000
Capex shareholder loan 65,000 75,000
Senior Corporate Facility – Tranche B Capex facility 154,000 177,000
Bank loans – working capital facility – 21,400
  315,000 349,400
Multinet
Senior Subscription Agreement 192,000 150,000
Capital expenditure facility – –
Bank loans – working capital facility 18,000 20,000
  210,000 170,000
Total 1,533,403 1,258,392
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Note 6. Interest Bearing Liabilities continued

Bank Loans –
DUET Group
On 18 June 2008, the DUET Group through 
the DUET 2008 Funding Sub Trust a special 
purpose entity, executed a $685 million 
syndicated corporate senior debt facility. The 
facility was established primarily for the purpose 
of redeeming POWERS and to establish a 
$100 million standby capital expenditure facility. 
Financial close for the facility is 29 August 2008.

Dampier Bunbury Pipeline
The capital expenditure facilities are provided by 
a syndicate of banks for the purpose of funding 
pipeline expansions provided certain conditions 
are met. They comprise $322.1 million (Stage 4), 
$480 million (Stage 5A) and $25.1 million 
(Stage 5A(2)).

The floating rate note facilities are publicly 
traded AAA debt securities, with credit support 
provided by Ambac Assurance Corporation. 
There are two tranches of $275 million each, 
which mature in April 2012 and April 2017 and 
two further tranches of $325 million, which 
mature in April 2013 and April 2016.

The syndicated facility of $205 million is provided 
by a syndicate of lenders under a Syndicated 
Facility Agreement. The facility matures in 2011.

United Energy
Bank loans are drawn down under the Senior 
Corporate Facilities, which have a maturity date 
of 16 June 2011, and the Working Capital Facility, 
which matures on 16 June 2011.

Multinet
Bank loans are drawn down under the Senior 
Corporate Facility, which has a maturity date of 
14 June 2012.

Guaranteed notes –
United Energy
US$200 million (A$210.7 million) 5.45% 
guaranteed notes due April 2016, were issued 
on 19 November 2003. A further US$260 million 
(A$273.9 million) 4.70% guaranteed notes due 
April 2011, were issued on 19 November 2003.

A$500 million floating rate (bank bill plus 0.28%) 
guaranteed notes due October 2014, were issued 
on 31 October 2005. The notes are unsecured 
and unsubordinated obligations. Interest is 
paid semi‑annually in arrears on 15 April and 
15 October for the fixed rate notes and quarterly 
on 23 January, 23 April, 23 July and 23 October 
on the floating rate notes. The notes are 
redeemable in whole but not in part. Scheduled 
payment of principal and interest on the notes is 
guaranteed by an unrelated party.

Long term currency swaps have been entered 
into to convert the USD exposure on the 
guaranteed notes into an Australian dollar 
exposure. The swaps entitle the Group to receive 
an agreed amount of USD and oblige it to pay an 
agreed amount of Australian dollars at the date 
of maturity of the guaranteed notes. The value of 
the guaranteed notes presented above is after 
the impact of the amount payable under the 
currency swap agreement.

Multinet
The following were issued on 29 July 2004:

A$150 million 6.375% fixed rate guaranteed  –
notes due July 2011;

A$135 million 6.5% fixed rate guaranteed notes  –
due July 2009; and

A$100 million floating rate guaranteed notes due  –
July 2011 at a floating interest rate with a 0.45% 
margin above bank bill rate.
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A$300 million floating rate guaranteed notes 
were issued on 15 June 2007 at a floating 
interest rate with a 0.24% margin above the 
bank bill rate, due on 10 July 2011. The notes are 
unsecured and unsubordinated obligations.

Interest is paid semi‑annually in arrears on 
29 January and 29 July (for the A$285 million 
of total fixed rate notes) and quarterly on 
29 January, 29 April, 29 July and 29 October 
on the $A100 million floating rate notes. The 
A$300 million notes’ interest is paid on 10 July 
and 10 October. Scheduled payment of principal 
and interest on the notes is guaranteed by an 
unrelated party.

Redeemable preference shares –
The redeemable preference shares issued 
by United Energy are deferred cumulative 
preference shares that are redeemable on the 
date 20 years from the date of issue, being 
23 July 2003. Interest is paid semi‑annually or at 
any time a declaration is made by the board of 
directors of United Energy. The annual dividend 
rate on the shares is 13.5%.

Borrowings from associate entities –
The borrowings from associate entities have a 
maturity date of 7 August 2013 and the interest 
rate payable is equivalent to the distribution rate 
payable in respect of the POWERS (as described 
below).

Loan agreements between DUET parent entities 
are included in borrowings from associates. 
These loans have a maturity of nine years and 
pay interest at 8% per annum. At 30 June 2008, 
the amounts payable to associated entities by 
DUET1 is $112,853,000, DUET2 is $nil, DUET3 is 
$1,289,000 and DIHL is $nil.

POWERS –
The POWERS have distributions payable in 
respect of each six month period ending on 
1 March and 1 September each year and 
otherwise in accordance with the POWERS 
Terms. The distribution rate in respect of 
POWERS for each distribution period until the 
initial reset date (1 September 2008) is a floating 
rate at a margin of 2.65% above the bank bill 
rate expressed as a percentage per annum of 
the face value of each POWERS. On 10 June 
2008, the DUET Group announced its intention 
to redeem and cancel the POWERS on 
1 September 2008. To finance this redemption, 
the DUET Group secured a $685 million total 
corporate senior debt facility.

Capex shareholder loan to United Energy –
The capex shareholder loan to United Energy has 
a maturity of 27 September 2018 and interest on 
this loan is 11.75% per annum.
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Note 7. Investments in Controlled Entities

     Equity Equity 
     holding holding 
     30 June 30 June 
   Country of Class of 2008 2007 
  Year end incorporation shares/units %2 %

Name of entity
Amistel Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 79.9 79.9
Australia Energy Finance Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 79.9 79.9
Australian Energy Fund No.2 30 June Australia Ordinary 80.9 80.9
Energy Partnership (Gas) Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 79.9 79.9
Energy Partnership (Holdings) Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 79.9 79.9
Energy Partnership Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 79.9 79.9
Energy Retail Holdings Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 73.1 73.1
Multinet Gas (DB No1) Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 79.9 79.9
Multinet Gas (DB No2) Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 79.9 79.9
Multinet Gas Distribution Partnership 30 June Australia Ordinary 79.9 79.9
Multinet Gas (IE) Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 79.9 79.9
Multinet Group Holdings Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 79.9 79.9
Pacific Indian Energy Services  
Pty Ltd (PIES) 30 June Australia Ordinary 57.3 57.3
POWERS Trust 30 June Australia Ordinary 100.0 100.0
Power Partnership Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 66.0 66.0
UEIP Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 66.0 66.0
United Energy Distribution Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 66.0 66.0
United Energy Distribution Holdings  
Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 66.0 66.0
United Energy Finance Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 66.0 66.0
United Energy Finance Trust 30 June Australia Ordinary 66.0 66.0
United Nominee Assets Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 66.0 66.0
Utilicorp Australia (Gas) Finance  
Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 79.9 79.9
Utilicorp Australia (Gas) Holdings  
Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 79.9 79.9
Utilicorp Southern Cross Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 79.9 79.9
Utilities Consulting Service Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 66.0 66.0
DUET Dampier Bunbury Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 100.0 100.0
DBNGP Trust1 30 June Australia Ordinary 64.9 62.1
DBNGP Holdings Pty Ltd1 30 June Australia Ordinary 64.9 62.1
DBNGP Finance Company Pty Ltd1 30 June Australia Ordinary 64.9 62.1
DBNGP WA Pipeline Trust1 30 June Australia Ordinary 64.9 62.1
DBNGP (WA) Nominees Pty Ltd1 30 June Australia Ordinary 64.9 62.1
DBNGP (WA) Transmission Pty Ltd1 30 June Australia Ordinary 64.9 62.1
DBNGP Compressor Co. Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 64.9 62.1
DBNGP (WA) Finance Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 64.9 62.1
DUET 2008 Debt Funding Trust 30 June Australia Ordinary 100.0 –

1 DUET holds an equity interest of 60% and an economic interest in the operating results of DBP of 64.9%. This will reduce to 60% when 
Alinta Limited and Alcoa of Australia Limited make their final payment on their partly paid shares.

2 The equity holding is the equity holding of the DUET Group. DUET1, as the deemed parent of the Group, is the deemed parent of these. 
DUET2, DUET3 and DIHL have no subsidiaries.
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Note 8. Critical Accounting Estimates 
and Judgements

The preparation of the financial report in 
accordance with AIFRS requires the use of 
certain critical accounting estimates. It also 
requires management to exercise judgement 
in the process of applying the accounting 
policies. Estimates and judgements are 
continually evaluated and are based on historical 
cost experience and other factors, including 
reasonable expectations of future events. 
Management believes the estimates used 
in the preparation of the financial report are 
reasonable. Actual results in the future may differ 
from those reported.

The estimates and assumptions that have a risk 
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year are discussed below:

(a) Estimated impairment of goodwill and 
indefinite life intangibles
The Group tests annually whether goodwill has 
suffered any impairment, in accordance with the 
accounting policy stated in Note 1(j) of the full 
Financial Statements. The recoverable amounts 
of cash generating units have been determined 
based on value‑in‑use and fair value less costs 
to sell calculations. These calculations require 
the use of assumptions. Refer Note 15 of the 
full Financial Statements for details of these 
assumptions and the potential impact of changes 
to these assumptions.

(b) Retirement Benefit Obligations
The liability in respect of defined benefit pension 
scheme obligations is calculated as the deficit of 
the fair value of the defined benefit plan assets 
compared to the defined benefit obligation. 
The key assumptions used in the calculation 
of the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation are described in Note 22 of the full 
Financial Statements.

Note 9. Events Occurring After Balance 
Sheet Date

Final distribution paid –
A final distribution of 13.50 cents per stapled 
security was paid by DUET on 15 August 2008. 
This consists of a distribution of 5.01 cents per 
unit from DUET1, 5.99 cents per unit from DUET2 
and 2.50 cents per unit from DUET3.

Performance fee reinvested in DUET  –
Group securities
On 8 July 2008, RE1 and RE2 elected to apply 
the performance fee of $54.2 million earned by 
them for the six month period to 30 June 2008 
of to subscribe for DUET Group securities. 

Pursuant to the DUET Trust Constitutions 
and DIHL Management Services Agreement, 
17,021,662 new stapled securities were issued at 
a price of $3.1835 per stapled security, being the 
weighted average trading price (VWAP) of DUET 
Group securities during the last 20 trading days 
of the six month period to 30 June 2008.

DUET Group securities issued under DRP –
Security holders participating in DUET’s 
Distribution and Dividend Reinvestment Plan 
(DRP) reinvested $18,885,523 of the distribution 
paid on 15 August 2008 in 6,583,015 DUET 
Group securities at a price of $2.868797.

Redemption of POWERS –
On 10 June 2008, DUET announced its intention 
to instruct POWERS Trust to redeem and cancel 
the Preferred to Ordinary with Exchange and 
Reset Securities (POWERS), DUET’s hybrid 
funding instrument, on 1 September 2008. 
DUET achieved contract close on 18 June 2008 
for a $685 million total corporate senior debt 
facility. This facility comprises a $585 million 
facility of which approximately 55% has a term 
of three years and 45% a term of five years and 
a $100 million standby working capital three 
year facility. The $585 million debt facility will be 
mostly applied by DUET to redeem POWERS.

US$300 million cross‑currency interest rate  –
swap executed
In August 2008, DUET executed a 
US$300 million cross‑currency interest rate swap 
with certain members of its banking syndicate. 
The swap will be effective from 29 August 2008 
and be used to hedge the DUET Group’s US 
dollar‑denominated investment in Duquesne Light.

There is no other circumstance that has arisen 
since the end of the year that has significantly 
affected, or may significantly affect the 
operations of the DUET Group, the results of 
those operations in future financial years, or the 
state of affairs of the DUET Group in periods 
subsequent to the year ended 30 June 2008.

Note 10. Full Financial Report

Further financial information can be obtained 
from the full financial report which is available, 
free of charge, on request from the DUET 
Group. A copy may also be requested by calling 
Computershare on 1800 009 874.
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Statement by the Directors of the 
Responsible Entity 
on the Concise Financial Report of the DUET Group

In the opinion of the directors of AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure Management No.1 Limited (RE1) as 
the Responsible Entity for Diversified Utility and Energy Trust No.1, the accompanying concise report 
of the DUET Group comprising DUET1 and the entities it controls and is deemed to control, for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2008, set out on pages 50 to 69:

(a) has been derived from or is consistent with the full financial report for the financial year; and

(b) complies with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 1039 Concise Financial Reports.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of directors:

Philip Garling 
Director

Sydney  
28 August 2008

John Roberts 
Director

Sydney 
28 August 2008
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
to the unitholders of Diversified Utility and Energy Trust No.1

Report on the Concise Financial Report
The accompanying concise financial report of Diversified Utility and Energy Trust No.1 and its 
controlled entities comprises the balance sheet as at 30 June 2008, the income statement, statement 
of changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year then ended and related notes, derived 
from the audited financial report of the stapled entity DUET Group comprising Diversified Utility and 
Energy Trust No.1, Diversified Utility and Energy Trust No.2, Diversified Utility and Energy Trust No.3 
and DUET Investment Holdings Limited, and the entities they controlled during the year, for the year 
ended 30 June 2008. The concise financial report also includes discussion and analysis and the 
directors’ declaration. The concise financial report does not contain all the disclosures required by the 
Australian Accounting Standards.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Concise Financial Report
The Directors of the Responsible Entity of the Diversified Utility and Energy Trust No.1 are responsible 
for the preparation and presentation of the concise financial report in accordance with Accounting 
Standards AASB 1039 Concise Financial Reports, the Corporations Act 2001, and the Trust Deed. 
This responsibility includes establishing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation 
of the concise financial report; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making 
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the concise financial report based on our audit 
procedures. We have conducted an independent audit, in accordance with Australian Auditing 
Standards, of the financial report of Diversified Utility and Energy Trust No.1 and its controlled entities 
for the year ended 30 June 2008. Our audit report on the financial report for the year was signed on 
28 August 2008 and was not subject to any modification. The Australian Auditing Standards require 
that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report for the year is free from 
material misstatement.

Our procedures in respect of the concise financial report included testing that the information in the 
concise financial report is derived from, and is consistent with, the financial report for the year, and 
examination on a test basis, of evidence supporting the amounts, discussion and analysis, and other 
disclosures which were not directly derived from the financial report for the year. These procedures 
have been undertake to form an opinion whether, in all material respects, the concise financial report 
complies with Accounting Standard AASB 1039 Concise Financial Reports and whether the discussion 
and analysis complies with the requirements laid down in AASB 1039 Concise Financial Reports.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion.

Independence
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations 
Act 2001.

Auditor’s Opinion
In our opinion, the concise financial report, including the discussion and analysis and the directors’ 
declaration of Diversified Utility and Energy Trust No.1 for the year ended 30 June 2008, complies with 
Accounting Standard AASB 1039 Concise Financial Reports.

Ernst & Young

Michael S Perry
Partner
Melbourne
28 August 2008

Liability limited by a scheme approved under  
Professional Standards Legislation



As noted in the corporate governance statement, 
DUET is an externally managed vehicle 
comprising three Australian trusts and an 
Australian public company:

DUET1  –
DUET2 –
DUET3, and –
DIHL. –

The combined trustees, known as a responsible 
entity, for each of the trusts are RE1 and RE2 
which are owned 50% by AMPCH and 50% 
by Macquarie Capital Group Limited, a wholly 
owned subsidiary of Macquarie Group Limited 
(Macquarie). RE1 also manages DIHL.

RE1 and RE2 make available employees 
(including senior executives) to discharge their 
obligations to the relevant DUET entity. These 
staff are employed by entities in the Macquarie 
Group or AMP Group and made available to 
DUET through formalised resourcing 
arrangements with RE1 and RE2. Their 
remuneration is not a DUET expense. It is 
paid by Macquarie Group and AMP Group as 
appropriate. Instead DUET pays management 
fees to RE1 and RE2 (and therefore the 
Macquarie Group and AMP Group) for providing 
management and advisory services. These fees 
are a DUET expense and are therefore 
disclosed below.

Under the Corporations Act, it is only Australian 
listed companies that are required to prepare 
a remuneration report. Accordingly, the 
remuneration report that appears in the DIHL 
directors’ report is only for DIHL, and only DIHL 
security holders participate in a non‑binding 
advisory vote in respect of it. DUET1, DUET2, 
DUET3 and the DUET Group as a whole are not 
required to prepare a remuneration report.

However, consistent with what is referred to 
above as an actual expense to DUET, we have 
set out below details of the management fees 
paid by DUET together with qualitative disclosure 
detailing how RE1 and RE2 staff are incentivised 
and their interests aligned with DUET. 

Management fees
Under the terms of the trust constitutions and the 
management services agreement, RE1 and RE2 
are entitled to base and performance fees for 
acting as responsible entity and manager to the 
stapled entities that comprise DUET. 

Base management and performance fees are 
calculated in accordance with a defined formula 
under the constitutions of DUET1, DUET2, 
DUET3 and the management services 
agreement with DIHL. The management fee 
structure is linked to market performance and, 
in the case of performance fees, ongoing 
outperformance against an external benchmark. 

The management fees paid or payable by DUET 
to RE1 and RE2 for the financial year ending 
30 June 2008 were:

Base fee A$18.8 million
Performance fee A$54.2 million

  
The fee arrangements were fully disclosed to 
investors on fund inception and subsequent 
restructure and capital raisings and continue to 
be disclosed on the DUET website and in annual 
reports so that investors originally invested and 
continue to invest on this basis. The structure 
and level of the fee arrangements are consistent 
with those paid in the market in respect of similar 
externally managed vehicles and are not subject 
to review. Any changes to the structure of the 
fee provisions which would have the effect of 
increasing the fees would need to be approved 
by DUET stapled security holders.

Base fees
Base fees are calculated quarterly.

For the purposes of calculating the base fee, the 
market value of DUET is determined as follows:

The volume weighted average market  –
capitalisation over the last 20 ASX trading 
days of each quarter, plus
Borrowings (excluding borrowings from the  –
POWERS Trust), plus
Firm commitments for future investment, less –
Cash or cash equivalents. –

Remuneration Report
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The quantum of the base management fee can 
increase or decrease as a result of both the 
movement in DUET securities on issue and any 
movement in the security price. Investors can 
effectively control the growth of securities on 
issue and therefore any base fee increases by 
factors such as deciding whether or not to 
support a capital raising involving the issue of 
new DUET securities. As capital raisings are 
invariably undertaken to fund new acquisitions 
or retire bridging debt for new acquisitions, RE1 
and RE2 are incentivised to ensure that each 
new investment is seen as disciplined and value 
accretive by the market in order to attract 
investor support for the raising and general 
ongoing support for the security price.

Performance fees
A performance fee is payable by DUET  
half‑yearly in arrears in the event that the 
DUET accumulation index outperforms the  
S&P/ASX 200 Industrials Accumulation Index 
in the period, having made up for any 
underperformance in previous years. 

The performance fee is 20.0% of the dollar 
amount of the net outperformance for the period. 

Where DUET underperforms the benchmark a 
fee deficit exists. Before any future performance 
fees can be earned, all accumulated deficits 
from prior periods of underperformance must 
be eliminated ensuring that any performance 
fees are paid as a result of sustained benchmark 
outperformance. This requirement for sustained 
outperformance creates a strong alignment 
of interest between RE1, RE2 and DUET 
security holders. 

Fees are apportioned between DUET1, DUET2, 
DUET3 and DIHL based on each entity’s share 
of the net assets of DUET. The net market values 
of the assets are used in the calculation of this 
apportionment.

Reinvestment of performance fees
Under DUET’s constituent documents,  
non‑executive directors of RE1, RE2 and 
DIHL acting in the interests of stapled 
security holders have the discretion as to 
whether or not the performance fee is applied for 
a subscription in new DUET stapled securities. 

Under ASX Listing Rule waiver requirements, 
the ability to reinvest performance fees is 
subject to DUET security holder approval 
every three years and is seen by DUET as 
creating further alignment between DUET 
management and DUET security holders. 
DUET security holders approved the ability to 
reinvest performance fees at the 2007 AGM 
and therefore refreshment of this approval 
will be sought in 2010. 

The issue price for the new DUET stapled 
securities is the volume weighted average 
trading price of all DUET stapled securities 
traded on the ASX during the last 20 trading 
days of the relevant half‑year period.

Expense reimbursement
RE1 and RE2 are also entitled to be reimbursed 
for expenses incurred by them in relation to the 
proper performance of their duties, out of the 
assets of DUET. This includes routine ongoing 
expenses such as the third party costs of 
acquiring assets and managing them, as well as 
capital raising costs, registry, audit, insurance, 
compliance costs and other expenses as set out 
in the trust constitutions and Advisory Deed.

Directors
No director of RE1 or RE2 is remunerated by 
DUET. The independent directors of RE1 and 
RE2 receive fees of A$70,000 per annum from 
RE1 or RE2 respectively, except where an 
independent director is also a director of DIHL in 
which case that director only receives A$35,000 
from RE1 or RE2 respectively with A$35,000 paid 
to the independent director by DIHL. The MBL 
and AMPCH nominee directors on the RE1 and 
RE2 boards are employed and remunerated by 
the MBL Group and AMP Group respectively.

The fees paid to the independent and  
non‑executive directors of RE1, RE2 and DIHL 
are determined by reference to current market 
rates for directorships. The level of fees is not 
related to the performance of DUET. The boards 
of RE1, RE2 and DIHL will consider remuneration 
payable to their independent and non‑executive 
directors from time to time. Remuneration for 
the independent and non‑executive directors 
is approved by the boards and any increases 
are benchmarked to market based on 
external advice. 

None of the RE1, RE2 and DIHL independent 
and non‑executive directors are entitled to DUET 
options or securities or to retirement benefits as 
part of their remuneration package.

Executives 
DUET management is employed by the 
Macquarie Group or AMP Group. Their 
remuneration is paid by the Macquarie Group 
or AMP Group and is not recharged to DUET. 
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Macquarie executives
The remuneration of Macquarie executives 
who are involved in the management of DUET 
(including the CEO of DUET and, since 
June 2008, the CFO of DUET) is not disclosed 
because the executives are not employed 
by DUET. 

While some DUET management are Macquarie 
Group employees there is a strong alignment of 
interest between those employees and DUET 
investors. This is evidenced by Macquarie 
Group’s remuneration system which ensures 
that a significant amount of remuneration is at 
risk and solely dependent on performance. The 
remuneration package of all Macquarie Group 
executives consists of a base salary and an 
annual profit share allocation. The base salary 
is reviewed annually and the profit share 
allocation, which is not guaranteed, is based 
on performance. 

Performance assessment of Macquarie Group 
employees takes place half‑yearly. The RE1, RE2 
and DIHL boards, which comprise a majority of 
independent and non‑executive directors, 
provide feedback in respect of the DUET CEO’s 
performance and can request that he be 
replaced if not performing satisfactorily.

The levels of base salary for senior executives 
take into consideration the role of the individual 
and market conditions. However, the levels of 
base salary can be low compared to similar 
roles in non‑investment banking companies. 

The profit share allocations to executives provide 
substantial incentives for superior performance 
but low or no participation for less satisfactory 
outcomes. Profit share allocations are therefore 
highly variable and can comprise a high 
proportion of total remuneration in the case of 
superior performance. The level of profit share 
received by members of the DUET management 
team is driven predominantly by their individual 
contribution to the performance of DUET, taking 
into account the following elements:

Strong operational performance of DUET’s  –
underlying assets
Management and leadership of DUET and the  –
assets controlled by DUET
Acquisitions and subsequent management of  –
the assets purchased to ensure performance is 
in line with the acquisition business plans
Effective capital management –
Maintenance of Macquarie’s reputation and track  –
record in respect of its branded funds.

There is no formulaic approach to determining 
DUET management’s profit share allocation. It is 
completely discretionary and takes into account 
factors outlined above as well as input from the 
DUET boards in the case of the DUET CEO.

DUET management employed by the 
Macquarie Group may also receive options 
in Macquarie Group Limited as part of their 
remuneration package.

AMP executives
The remuneration of AMP executives who are 
involved in the management of DUET (including 
the COO of DUET and, prior to June 2008, the 
CFO of DUET) is not disclosed because the 
executives are not employed by DUET. 

AMP executive remuneration comprises 
base salary, superannuation and short‑term 
incentives. Short‑term incentives include a profit 
share arrangement. Payment of a percentage of 
incentives is deferred for up to two years and 
executives must be employed at payment date 
in order to receive incentives and deferred 
incentives.

While some DUET management are AMP Group 
employees there is a strong alignment of interest 
between those employees and DUET investors 
as all AMP executives have a significant 
component of their remuneration at risk and 
dependent on performance. For the AMP 
executives who are part of the DUET 
management team, their performance is 
measured against their contribution to the 
performance of DUET.

Performance assessment of AMP Group 
employees takes place half yearly. The RE1, RE2 
and DIHL boards, which comprise a majority of 
independent and non‑executive directors, 
provide feedback in respect of the DUET COO’s 
and CFO’s performance and can request that 
they be replaced if not performing satisfactorily.

Alignment of interests
Further to the remuneration matters discussed 
above, alignment between DUET security 
holders and Peter Barry, the CEO of DUET, is 
reflected in profit share arrangements that apply 
to Macquarie Group’s executive directors. In 
accordance with these arrangements, 20% of 
the profit share amounts each year for these staff 
is withheld and subject to restrictions. These 
retained profit share amounts vest after between 
five and 10 years.
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In order to better align the interests of 
management with security holders, Mr Barry’s 
retained profit share amounts are notionally 
invested by Macquarie Group in DUET securities 
so that returns on these amounts are based 
on the DUET security price performance. The 
investment is described as ‘notional’ because 
Mr Barry does not directly hold securities in 
relation to this investment. However, the value 
of the retained amounts will vary as if these 
amounts were directly invested in 
actual securities. 

Alignment between the Macquarie Group, 
AMP Group and DUET security holders is 
also demonstrated through the interest the 
Macquarie Group and AMP Group hold in DUET. 
At September 2008 the Macquarie Group held 
approximately A$124 million1 in DUET securities 
and the AMP Group held approximately 
A$360 million2 in DUET securities. At 
August 2008 DUET senior staff and directors 
of the DUET entities also hold over A$6.5 million 
in DUET securities.

Remuneration Report continued

1 Includes both principal 
and nominee fiduciary 
holdings with the latter 
being about 73% of the 
total holding.

2 Includes both principal 
and fiduciary holdings 
with the latter being 
about 37% of the total 
holding.
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Distribution of stapled securities
     % of issued 
    Total stapled stapled 
Investor ranges  Holders securities securities
1–1,000  748 367,148 0.06
1,001–5,000  5,114 16,862,844 2.66
5,001–10,000  4,720 34,929,322 5.52
10,001–100,000  4,700 98,629,202 15.58
100,001 and over  184 482,275,371 76.18
Total   15,466 633,063,887 100.00

Investors with less than the minimum marketable parcel: 136

Twenty largest investors
    Number of % of issued 
    stapled stapled 
Rank Investor   securities securities
1 HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited  79,746,768 12.6
2 AMP Life Limited   77,341,399 12.22
3 JPMorgan Nominees Australia Limited  61,203,847 9.67
4 Cogent Nominees Pty Limited   36,404,953 5.75
5 National Nominees Limited   31,417,384 4.96
6 ANZ Nominees Limited    26,912,333 4.25
7 Questor Financial Services Limited   15,407,867 2.43
8 Cogent Nominees Pty Limited   14,839,551 2.34
9 Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited   14,704,556 2.32
10 RBC Dexia Investor Services Australia Nominees Pty Limited 9,932,678 1.57
11 Macquarie Capital Group Limited   8,510,831 1.34
12 Belike Nominees Pty Limited    7,192,577 1.14
13 UBS Nominees Pty Limited   6,955,542 1.1
14 Bond Street Custodians Limited    4,947,247 0.78
15 Tasman Asset Management Limited   4,721,789 0.75
16 Queensland Investment Corporation  4,551,482 0.72
17 Australian Executor Trustees Limited   3,495,172 0.55
18 Australian Reward Investment Alliance  2,945,487 0.47
19 Promina Equities Limited   2,712,839 0.43
20 Argo Investments Limited   2,594,214 0.41
Total    416,538,516 65.8

Details of substantial stapled security holders
   Date of Number of % of issued 
   substantial stapled stapled 
Holder   holder notice securities securities
AMP Limited  9 July 2008 122,740,408 19.59
Macquarie Group Limited  22 July 2008 42,427,724 6.77
Barclays Group  28 March 2008 37,655,397 6.29
Pictet Asset Management S.A . 11 July 2007 30,325,152 5.36

Stapled Security Holder Information
As at 27 August 2008
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Stapled Security Holder Information
As at 27 August 2008

DUET is managed jointly (50:50) by AMPCH 
and the Macquarie Group (Macquarie).

DUET’s management team has expert 
knowledge of, and experience in, the energy 
utility sector, and the responsible entities will 
have access to the combined infrastructure 
expertise and investment management 
resources of Macquarie and AMP Capital Group.

Each of the responsible entities and DIHL has 
an experienced board of directors, a majority of 
whom are independent from DUET, the AMP 
Capital Group and Macquarie.

Philip Garling 
B.Build FAIB, FAICD, FIE (Aust), AFAIM
Chairman
AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure Management 
No.1 Limited

AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure Management 
No.2 Limited

DUET Investment Holdings Limited

Philip is the AMPCH appointed director of the 
responsible entities and DIHL, and is the 
chairman of each of these companies. Philip is 
responsible for the overall infrastructure business 
of AMP Capital Investors. He has over 20 years 
experience in infrastructure development and 
investment, and was previously chief executive 
officer of Tenix Infrastructure.

Philip was also a long‑term senior executive 
with Lend Lease Corporation, culminating in 
his role as CEO of Lend Lease Capital 
Services, the development capital and 
infrastructure investment and development arm 
of Lend Lease. He also spent two years in 
Singapore implementing the company’s Asian 
infrastructure strategy.

Philip is a director of several infrastructure 
companies in which AMP Capital is an investor. 
Philip holds the Advanced Diploma from the 
Australian Institute of Company Directors.

John Roberts
LLB
Director
AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure Management 
No.1 Limited

AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure Management 
No.2 Limited

DUET Investment Holdings Limited

John joined the Macquarie Group in Sydney in 
1991. He is based in Sydney and is both joint 
head of the Macquarie Capital Advisers division 
and directly responsible for the Macquarie 
Capital Funds group.

John is either a board director (or an alternate 
director) or on the investment committee of the 
Macquarie infrastructure roads, airports, 
communications, utilities, media, retirement and 
private equity funds, as well as the international 
Singaporean, Korean, Canadian, US and 
European entities.

John has a Bachelor of Laws from the University 
of Canterbury, New Zealand.

Directors’ Profiles
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The Hon. Michael Lee 
BSc, BEng (Hons1), FIE (Aust)
Independent director 
AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure Management 
No.1 Limited

Michael is an electrical engineer. He served in 
the Australian Parliament for 17 years, and held a 
number of senior positions in both government 
and opposition. He was Minister for Tourism, 
Communications and the Arts in the Keating 
government. He is currently a councillor of the 
City of Sydney, and a director of Macquarie 
Airports (appointed 2003), Country Energy 
(appointed 2002), and of Michael Lee Consulting 
Pty Limited. He is also Chairman of the NSW 
TAFE Commission Board and a member of the 
NSW Architects Registration Board.

Doug Halley
BCom, MBA, FAICD, FTA
Independent director
AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure Management 
No.1 Limited

DUET Investment Holdings Limited

Doug has broad financial and general 
management experience as a chief executive 
officer, chief financial officer and senior 
executive. Doug has worked in financial services, 
publishing and media, IT and manufacturing 
sectors with organisations including NV Philips 
(in Australia, UK and the Netherlands), Hill 
Samuel Australia, NM Rothschild & Sons 
Australia, Goodman Fielder, John Fairfax 
Holdings, IBM Global Services and the 
Thomson Corporation. 

Doug has considerable experience in strategy 
and corporate development plus large‑scale 
acquisitions and financing. He also has broad 
experience in business development in China, 
Japan and South East Asia. He is currently 
Chairman of Mikoh Corporation Ltd, Aurora 
Community Television and Print & Digital 
Publishing (TimeOut Sydney) and Chairman of 
the Advisory Boards of SISS21, UGLii Find 
Australia and the AEH Group.

Emma Stein 
BSc (Hons) Physics, MBA
Independent director 
AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure Management 
No.1 Limited

DUET Investment Holdings Limited 

Emma’s operational utilities experience includes 
energy retailing and asset management, 
international business operations, strategy 
development and implementation, acquisition 
integration and divestment.

Emma is a non‑executive director of Clough. 
Formerly she was a non‑executive director 
of ARC Energy and of Merlin Petroleum Limited 
(Australian oil and gas exploration and production 
companies). She is chair of the audit committee 
for Clough. Prior to leaving the UK in 2003 Emma 
was the UK managing director for French utility 
Gaz De France’s energy retailing operations. 
She was also a non‑executive director for 
Cofathec Heatsave Ltd and an executive UK 
board director for Gaz de France Energy.

Emma is a member of the strategy and resources 
board committee of the University of Western 
Sydney, a NSW Ambassador for the Guides and 
NSW President for NAPCAN, the National 
Association for the Prevention of Child Abuse 
and Neglect.

Ron Finlay
LLB 
Independent director 
AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure Management 
No.2 Limited

DUET Investment Holdings Limited

Ron is a lawyer and chief executive of Finlay 
Consulting with over 30 years’ experience in 
property, construction, development and 
infrastructure projects including as project 
manager or facilitator of major infrastructure 
projects in Australia and overseas for both public 
and private sector organisations (such as the 
Basslink Project). Ron is currently a director and 
chair of the New South Wales Transport 
Infrastructure Development Corporation which 
has over A$14 billion of transport projects under 
management. He also acts as an independent 
chairman on a number of government and 
private sector project control groups and dispute 
resolution boards for major projects.

Ron has been involved in major local government 
PPP projects for both Liverpool and Parramatta 
councils. He has also served on various public 
and private sector boards including the Darling 
Harbour Authority and the Central Sydney 
Planning Committee.

Directors’ Profiles continued
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Eric Goodwin
BEng, MIE (Aust) 
Independent director 
AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure Management 
No.2 Limited

Eric joined the Lend Lease Group in 1963 as  
a cadet engineer and, during his 42‑year career 
with Lend Lease, held a number of senior 
executive and subsidiary board positions in  
their Australian operations. Eric has extensive 
experience in design, construction and project 
management, general management and 
investment and funds management. Eric 
managed the MLC property portfolio during the 
1980s and was the founding fund manager of 
Australian Prime Property Fund. Eric is a director 
of Macquarie Global Property Fund Advisors, 
the GPT Group and Eureka Funds Management. 
He is also a council member of the Aloysius 
College Council.

Duncan Sutherland
BA, MBA 
Independent director
AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure Management 
No.2 Limited

Duncan has broad experience in the mining, 
metals and auto industries, where his focus 
areas included mergers, acquisitions and 
divestments, business analysis and corporate 
planning. Duncan joined CRA Limited in 1980, 
and was most recently responsible for 
acquisitions and divestments and corporate 
strategy. After CRA merged with RTZ in 1995, 
Duncan became managing director of energy 
developments in the re‑named Rio Tinto, 
responsible for business development and the 
management of acquisitions and divestments. 
During his career Duncan has also worked 
overseas in the USA, Europe, Brazil and 
Argentina. Duncan is currently a director of the 
responsible entities of the trusts comprised in the 
Macquarie Global Infrastructure Fund and a 
director of Haileybury College, Melbourne.

Christine Williams
MA, LLB (Syd)
Company secretary

Christine is a qualified solicitor and an 
executive director in Macquarie Capital Funds. 
She has worked in the banking industry for 
over 24 years, including 15 years in funds 
management performing a general counsel/
company secretarial and compliance function 
for listed and wholesale infrastructure and 
other specialised funds managed by the 
Macquarie Group.

Leanne Pickering
BEc, LLB (Macquarie)
Company secretary

Leanne Pickering is a qualified solicitor with 
over 10 years’ experience and a division director 
in Macquarie Capital Funds. Leanne joined 
Macquarie in 2005 and is responsible for the 
legal and company secretarial function for 
a number of funds managed by the 
Macquarie Group.

Directors’ Profiles continued
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Disclaimer

DUET Group comprises Diversified Utility and Energy Trust No.1 
ARSN 109 363 037 (DUET1), Diversified Utility and Energy Trust 
No.2 ARSN 109 363 135 (DUET2), Diversified Utility and Energy 
Trust No.3 ARSN 124 997 986 (DUET3) and DUET Investment 
Holdings Limited (DIHL). AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure 
Management No.1 Limited ABN 99 108 013 672 (RE1) is the 
responsible entity of DUET1 and AMPCI Macquarie 
Infrastructure Management No.2 Limited ABN 15 108 014 062 
(RE2) is the responsible entity for DUET2 and DUET3. RE1 is 
the manager of DIHL. RE1 and RE2 are jointly owned by 
AMP Capital Holdings Limited ABN 69 078 651 966 (AMPCH), 
a wholly owned subsidiary of AMP Limited, and Macquarie 
Capital Group Limited ABN 54 096 705 109 (Macquarie Capital).

Stapling
In accordance with its requirements in respect of stapled 
securities, the ASX reserves the right (but without limiting its 
absolute discretion) to remove DUET1, DUET2, DUET3 and 
DIHL, or all four, from the official list of the ASX if, while the 
stapling arrangements apply, the securities in DUET1, DUET2, 
DUET3 or DIHL cease to be stapled together or one equity 
securities are issued by DUET1, DUET2, DUET3 or DIHL to 
equivalent securities in the other entities, other than the A, B 
and C special shares or redeemable preference shares (as 
those terms are defined in the DIHL constitution). 

Performance disclaimer
None of the entities noted in this document is an authorised 
deposit-taking institution for the purposes of the Banking Act 
1959 (Commonwealth of Australia) and their obligations do 
not represent deposits or other liabilities of Macquarie Bank 
Limited ABN 46 008 583 542 (MBL) or AMP Bank Limited 
ABN 15 081 596 009 (AMP Bank). MBL provides a limited 
A$2.5 million guarantee to the Australian Securities and 
Investments Commission in respect of Corporations Act 
obligations of each of RE1 and RE2 as responsible entities 
of managed investment schemes. MBL and AMP Bank do 
not otherwise guarantee or provide assurance in respect of 
the obligations of RE1 or RE2 or any other entity noted in 
this document.

Investments in DUET are subject to investment risk 
including possible delays in repayment and loss of income 
and capital invested. 

Advice warning
The information in this annual report is given in good faith 
and derived from sources believed to be accurate at this date 
but no warranty of accuracy or reliability is given and no 
responsibility arising in any other way including by reason of 
negligence for errors or omissions is accepted by RE1, RE2, 
DIHL or their respective officers.

This report is not an offer or invitation for subscription or 
purchase of or a recommendation of securities. It does not take 
into account the investment objectives, financial situation and 
particular needs of the investor. Before making an investment 
in DUET, the investor or prospective investor should consider 
whether such an investment is appropriate to their particular 
investment needs, objectives and financial circumstances and 
consult an investment adviser if necessary.

Financial report
The DUET consolidated financial report has been prepared 
to enable RE1 and RE2 as responsible entities, and DIHL, to 
comply with their obligations under the Corporations Act and 
to ensure compliance with the ASX Listing Rules and satisfy the 
requirements of the Australian accounting standards in relation 
to stapled structures. The responsibility for preparation of the 
concise financial report and any financial information contained 
in this annual report rests solely with the directors of RE1, RE2 
and DIHL.

Complaints handling
A formal complaints handling procedure is in place for DUET. 
RE1 and RE2 are members of the Financial Ombudsman 
Service. Complaints should in the first instance be directed 
to RE1 and RE2. If you have any enquiries or complaints, 
please contact:

Investor Relations Manager, DUET
Level 11
No. 1 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000 

or

PO Box 4294
Sydney NSW 1164

Telephone
Within Australia: 1800 005 049
Outside Australia: (612) 8232 4491
Facsimile: (612) 8232 4713

DUET’s ongoing commitment to your privacy
We understand the importance you place on your privacy and 
are committed to protecting and maintaining the confidentiality 
of the personal information you provide to us. 

DUET has adopted a privacy policy. For further information, 
visit the DUET website at www.duet.net.au or contact DUET 
Investor Relations on 1800 005 049 or from outside Australia 
on (612) 8232 4491.
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Directors 
The RE1 board of directors is comprised as follows:
Name and Position Executive/Independent 
Philip Garling Executive 
Chairman  (appointed by AMPCH)
John Roberts Executive 
Director (appointed by Macquarie)
Hon. Michael Lee 
Director Independent 
Doug Halley 
Director Independent 
Emma Stein 
Director Independent 

The RE2 board of directors is comprised as follows:
Name and Position Executive/Independent 
Philip Garling Executive 
Chairman  (appointed by AMPCH)
John Roberts Executive  
Director (appointed by Macquarie)
Ron Finlay 
Director Independent 
Eric Goodwin 
Director Independent 
Duncan Sutherland 
Director Independent 

The DIHL board of directors is comprised as follows:
Name and Position Executive/Independent 
Philip Garling Executive  
Chairman (appointed by AMPCH)
John Roberts Executive  
Director (appointed by Macquarie)
Doug Halley 
Director Independent 
Emma Stein 
Director Independent
Ron Finlay 
Director Independent 

Secretaries of RE1, RE2 and DIHL
Christine Williams
Leanne Pickering

Responsible Entity
AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure 
Management No.1 Limited 
(ABN 99 108 013 672) (RE1) 
as responsible entity of 
Diversified Utility and Energy 
Trust No.1 (DUET1) 
and
AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure 
Management No.2 Limited 
(ABN 15 108 014 062) (RE2) 
as responsible entity of 
Diversified Utility and Energy 
Trust No.2 (DUET2) and as 
responsible entity of 
Diversified Utility and Energy 
Trust No.3 (DUET3) 
and
DUET Investment Holdings 
Limited (DIHL) 
Level 7 
No. 1 Martin Place 
Sydney NSW 2000 
or
PO Box 4294  
SYDNEY NSW 1164
Telephone: 
(612) 8232 4491 or 
1800 005 049
Facsimile: (612) 8232 4713
Website: www.duet.net.au
Registry
Computershare Investor 
Services Pty Limited  
GPO Box 7115  
Sydney NSW 2001
or
Level 3 
60 Carrington Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 
Telephone: 
(612) 9415 4189 or 
1800 009 874 
Facsimile: (612) 8235 8220
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